

Making finance flow to adaptation in small-scale agrifood systems

The role of the third long-term goal of the Paris Agreement (Article 2.1(c))

Bertha Argueta, Nathaniel Mason, Shandelle Steadman, Michai Robertson and Charlene Watson

With written contributions from

Pablo Imbach, Andrea Zamora, Claudia Bouroncle and Tea Skrinjaric, Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigación y Enseñanza (CATIE)

March 2024

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

How to Cite: Argueta, B, Mason, N, Steadman, S et al. (2024) Making finance flow to adaptation in small-scale agrifood systems: The role of the third long-term goal of the Paris Agreement (Article 2.1 (c)). ODI Report. London: ODI (https://odi.org/en/publications/making-finance-flow-toadaptation-in-small-scalle-agrifood-systems).

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for the thoughtful insights and review from Alba Milena Ruiz Arias, Transforma; Amy Giliam Thorp, Power Shift Africa; Daniela Chiriac, Climate Policy Initiative; David Ryfisch, Germanwatch; Jahan Chowdhury, International Fund for Agriculture and Development; and Nicholas Simpson, ODI.

We acknowledge the engagement of the following organisations in virtual roundtables held in January 2024 to test emerging findings of the research: African Development Bank, African Group of Negotiators Expert Support, Asia-Pacific Rural and Agricultural Credit Association, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigación y Enseñanza, Climate Policy Institute, FAIRR, Green Climate Fund, Global Green Growth Institute, Good Food Finance Network, Inter-American Development Bank, International Food Policy Institute, International Fund for Agriculture and Development, International Institute for Environment and Development, Power Shift Africa, Root Capital, Transforma, United Nations Development Programme, University of Oxford, and World Bank.

Special thanks to Scarlett Moore and Matthew Foley, ODI, for editorial support, and Garth Stewart for design.

All views remain those of the authors.

About this publication

The authors would like to thank Matt Eldridge at the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation for guidance and for making this report possible.

About the authors

Bertha Argueta is a Senior Advisor for Climate Finance and Development at Germanwatch e.V.

Nathaniel Mason is a Senior Research Associate affiliated with the Climate and Sustainability Programme at ODI.

Shandelle Steadman is a Senior Research Officer in the Climate and Sustainability Programme at ODI.

Michai Robertson is a Research Fellow in the Climate and Sustainability Programme at ODI.

Charlene Watson is a Senior Research Associate affiliated with the Climate and Sustainability Programme at ODI.

Key messages

- The third long-term goal of the Paris Agreement Article 2.1(c) aims at making finance flows consistent with climate-resilient development. However, the articulation and implementation of this goal have been slow, and focused more on mitigation than adaptation and inclusive, sustainable development. This misses opportunities for Article 2.1(c) implementation to support climate-resilient development in climate-vulnerable developing countries.
- This paper considers whether and how Article 2.1(c) can support increased investment in adaptation and wider climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems. Such systems include an ecosystem of actors: small-scale producers, micro, small and medium agrifood enterprises along the value chain, and poor food consumers.
- Small-scale agrifood systems play a key role in poverty reduction, food security and nutrition, and the health of natural systems. They are also climate-vulnerable. In bringing this focus, the paper seeks to emphasise how implementation of Article 2.1(c) can benefit climate-vulnerable developing countries, and to engage agrifood system stakeholders in efforts to implement Article 2.1(c).
- The paper identifies actions governments can take to pursue Article 2.1(c) implementation to the benefit of small-scale agrifood system actors, including through their fiscal policy, publicly owned financial institutions, financial and corporate regulation and the information signals they send to the market. Examples range from reforming agricultural subsidies to setting taxonomies and standards for investors and corporates, in ways that enable the important contribution of small-scale actors to climate-resilient development.
- The space for governments to take such actions may however be limited by the rules and constraints imposed by the current international financial architecture. Thus, additional reforms supported by higher-income countries and in multilateral fora are required, including to ensure sovereign debt regimes, agrifood trade and international public banking work more in the interests of small-scale agrifood actors.
- A strong focus on climate justice, equity and elevating the voice and decision-making power of the most climate-vulnerable should underpin reform efforts at both the national and international level. This includes participation of small-scale agrifood actors, especially at the national level, as well as representation of their needs and priorities.
- The multilateral climate deliberations, food system transformation fora and related country-level processes provide critical moments to drive implementation of Article 2.1(c) in small-scale agrifood systems. Together, the climate and food system transformation communities will also need to advocate to ensure reform of the global financial architecture, from multilateral development bank evolution to debt relief, supports climate-resilient development in small-scale food systems.

Contents

Acknowledgements / i

Key messages / ii

Display items / iv

Acronyms / v

Executive summary / 1

- Introduction: What is Article 2.1(c) and why does it matter for small-scale agrifood systems? / 6
 - 1.1 Objectives / 6
 - 1.2 Key concepts / 6
 - 1.3 Report overview / 12
- 2 What is the status of climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems? / 13
 - 2.1 Observed and future climate change impacts on small-scale agrifood systems / 13
 - 2.2 Climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems / 14
 - 2.3 Climate finance to small-scale agrifood systems / 17

3 How can implementing Article 2.1(c) support small-scale agrifood systems? / 18

- 3.1 Linking Article 2.1(c) implementation to more and better investments for small-scale agrifood systems / 18
- 3.2 Consistency makers for small-scale agrifood systems / 21
- 4 Challenges and opportunities for implementing Article 2.1(c) in small-scale agrifood systems / 32

```
4.1 Key challenges / 32
```

4.2 Windows of opportunity / 33

```
5 What next? / 36
```

References / 38

Appendix 1 Categorising investments for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems / 51

Display items

Boxes

Box 1 Defining 'transformation' / 9
Box 2 Small-scale actors in UN climate and food system fora / 11
Box 3 Acknowledging variation in small-scale agrifood systems / 16
Box 4 Shifting subsidies towards general cash transfers: supporting technology adoption by farmers in Uttar Pradesh, India / 22
Box 5 Accelerating penetration of crop insurance through premium subsidies in Peru / 23
Box 6 Strengthening resilient small-scale production: BNDES in Brazil's Northeast region / 24
Box 7 Mexico's FIRA: attracting private investment through green and resilience bonds and aggregating small loans in agriculture value chains / 24
Box 8 India's central bank-mandated lending: contributing to financial inclusion and enhanced climate resilience of small-scale farmers / 25
Box 9 Small-scale farming in Colombia's green taxonomy / 26
Box 10 Farmer-directed product labelling in Nepal / 27
Box 11 Grenada's pause clause: reprofiling debt service obligations in the event of climate-driven disasters / 28

Box 12 Stimulating the market for agrifood climate risk insurance in Africa / 31

Figures

Figure ES1 Investment categories for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems / 2

Figure ES2 Linking consistency makers through to investments / 3

Figure 1 Examples of internal and external consistency makers / 8

Figure 2 Examples of impacts of climate change on the agrifood system / 13

Figure 3 Investment categories for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems / 18

Figure 4 Linking consistency makers to investments for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems / 20

Acronyms

СОР	Conference of the Parties
FIRA	Fideicomisos Instituidos en Relación con la Agricultura
IFI	International financial institution
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
GHG	Greenhouse gas
MDB	Multilateral development bank
MSMEs	Micro, small and medium enterprises
PDB	Public development bank
PGS	Participatory Guarantee System
SAC	Seguro Agrícola Catastrófico
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNFSS	United Nations Food System Summit
ωтο	World Trade Organization

Executive summary

The third long-term goal of the Paris Agreement aims at 'making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient development' (UNFCCC, 2015: 3). Climate-resilient development is a process that seeks to achieve and reconcile adaptation, mitigation and sustainable development for all. However, progress in pursuit of this goal has been slow, and focused more on mitigation than adaptation and inclusive, sustainable development.

There is a lack of shared understanding of how the implementation of the goal, expressed in Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement, can be of relevance for all countries, including developing and more climate-vulnerable countries, via adaptation and resilience.

There is therefore a need to consider how implementing Article 2.1(c) can mobilise and shift financial flows in support of climate-resilient development. Furthermore, there is a need to consider whether implementing Article 2.1(c) results in increased positive investment, and phasing down of harmful investments, in the real economy, particularly in key sectors and systems for people and nature.

This is the second of two papers. The <u>first paper</u> sets out how governments can use 'consistency makers' in pursuit of climate-resilient development under Article 2.1(c). Consistency makers are the actions that governments, as Parties to the Paris Agreement, can take either themselves ('internal') or through international cooperation ('external') to mobilise and shift financial flows at scale, and in turn to increase the quantity and quality of investment for low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient development. This paper puts those consistency makers to the test, exploring whether and how they can be used to mobilise and shift finance towards climateresilient development in the context of smallscale agrifood systems. Such systems comprise: a complex ecosystem of actors including small-scale producers; other value chain actors that provide agricultural inputs, services, product aggregation and market linkages in upstream or downstream industries; and people in poverty who rely on these systems for food security and nutrition.

Small-scale agrifood systems at once face significant climate risks, and are vitally important for wider climate adaptation and sustainable development because of their role in supporting poverty reduction, food security and nutrition and ecosystem health.

The paper has twin aims: to enhance the relevance of Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement for all Parties; and to engage agrifood system stakeholders in efforts to implement Article 2.1(c).

The scale of the challenge is enormous, implying transformation of both food and financial systems, and requiring transformative as well as incremental adaptation. These challenges are compounded by the small and decreasing levels of climate finance that flow to adaptation in general, and to small-scale agrifood systems in particular, to support enhanced climateresilient development.

Nonetheless, there are actions aligned with Article 2.1(c) that governments can lead on to shift and mobilise financial flows at scale for climateresilient development, and especially adaptation, in small-scale agrifood systems. Many have also been highlighted by work to improve the financial architecture for food systems in general.

To articulate how Article 2.1(c) implementation can concretely support more and better finance for small-scale agrifood systems, we draw a link from the consistency makers to six categories of investment by and for small-scale agrifood system actors. Such investments, shown in Figure ES1 are needed to ensure climate-resilient development in the face of impacts of climate change throughout the agrifood system, from production to consumption, including investments in farm management, through the supply chain, and on the demand side, as well as cross-cutting investments in risk management, human capital and governance.



Figure ES1 Investment categories for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems

A range of internal and external consistency makers can mobilise and redirect finance flows towards these types of investments, with relevant flows including those provided by value chain actors within agrifood markets – from smallholder farmers to food consumers – as well as international and national public funds and private finance provided by commercial banks and capital markets (Figure ES2).



Figure ES2 Linking consistency makers through to investments

Within a country, the examples and ideas collated in this paper demonstrate that governments can utilise the following internal consistency makers to mobilise and redirect finance flows to investments in climate-resilient development for small-scale agrifood systems. For example:

• Governments can **reform their fiscal support** to agriculture in favour of public goods, such as research and extension services and infrastructure – both built and natural – or uptake of risk management tools such as crop and livestock insurance. They can ensure smallholder farmers and other small-scale food system actors do not lose out from subsidy reform, strengthen human capital and increase wider buy-in by decoupling subsidies from production or inputs and prioritising general social protection measures based on principles of financial and digital inclusion. And they can utilise public procurement to favour diversified, agro-ecological small-scale production systems and healthier diets on the demand side, for example in school meal provision.

• Publicly owned financial institutions such as public development banks and credit guarantee agencies already play a vital role in providing finance to agrifood systems. However, they can be further encouraged and enabled to reach small-scale actors, especially the 'missing middle' of small-to-medium agrifood enterprises in the supply chain, which can fall between commercial finance and microfinance. They can also act as market shapers, redistributing climate risks and encouraging private financial institutions to invest in climate-resilient development. For example, they can issue green bonds on capital markets, aggregating and refinancing portfolios of loans that enable smallscale agrifood producers and other enterprises to invest in water and energy infrastructure.

- Financial regulators can shape financial markets and influence financial institutions and corporates more directly through their mandates. For example, central banks can establish policies or credit lines that specifically encourage on-lending to small-scale agrifood system stakeholders (with consideration of wider mandates such as inflation control). Financial regulators can encourage or directly require financial institutions and corporates to give due recognition to the investment opportunities - and scientifically assessed risks - in small-scale agrifood systems. This could start with sustainable finance taxonomies that explicitly capture climate-resilient development activities undertaken by smallholder farmers and agrifood MSMEs, not just larger commercial farms and corporates.
- Governments can also use a variety of information instruments to signal to financial markets and firms that they intend to prioritise climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems. At a high level these could include policies and strategies relevant to the financial, agrifood and climate sectors (not least Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and National Adaptation Plans (NAPs)). At a more detailed level of implementation, examples include labelling systems that stimulate demand for healthier and more climate-resilient consumer choices and favour sourcing from small-scale agrifood systems.

Several governments are already taking such actions. Many actions are also complementary to other efforts to align food system finance with sustainability objectives, including SDG2 and ending hunger.

However, the scope for many countries, including climate-vulnerable developing countries, to utilise internal consistency makers is limited by inadequacies and inequalities in the international financial architecture and related regimes, such as for international trade and debt. These arrangements can result in reduced access to liquidity and finance, increased borrowing costs, restricted export markets and constrained fiscal space for investment in climate-resilient development, including in small-scale agrifood systems. As such, encouraging and facilitating governments to take action through internal consistency makers must be matched by multilateral cooperation – and by considering and managing the potential impacts of unilateral measures by larger economic powers – including on the following **external consistency makers**:

- Sovereign debt regimes that reduce the fiscal pressures on climate-vulnerable countries, and permit sustained investment in diversified, climate-resilient small-scale agrifood systems. This requires breaking the cycle in which food and fertiliser import dependency drives up debt while repayment obligations jeopardise affordability of those imports and incentivise commodity cash crop cultivation for export. Instruments like debt disaster pause clauses and debt-for-climate and debt-for-nature swaps can play a role as short-term solutions, though they create new challenges. Systemic debt relief remains urgently needed.
- An agrifood trading system that maintains the adaptation benefits of open and fair trade, while checking the outsize influence of multinational firms in agrifood value chains and the distorting effect on world prices from agricultural support programmes, especially in high-income countries. Furthermore rich countries' efforts to regulate value chain actors to tackle climate challenges – for example deforestation – should not come at the expense of small-scale producers and other agrifood actors.

 An international public banking system that can support countries to invest in small-scale agrifood systems. This includes ensuring 'Paris Alignment' in agrifood lending operations, with equal attention to climate-resilient development and emissions reduction; targeting a share of any expanded multilateral development bank lending capacity to these systems; fostering management of climate-related risks within and above the country level, for example by developing regional agrifood climate risk insurance markets; and using the full suite of policy tools - including appropriate policy conditions, technical assistance and partnerships with national institutions - to help countries strengthen the fundamentals for strong, climateresilient small-scale agrifood systems.

The prevailing political economy limiting smallscale agrifood system actors' voice and influence, access to natural and financial resources and markets, at both national and international level, creates cross-cutting challenges to these types of reform. Climate change can exacerbate those challenges, and efforts to reform internal and external consistency makers can create unintended consequences and trade-offs – even between the adaptation, mitigation and sustainable development objectives within climate-resilient development. Rights-based, locally led and climate justice principles must be embedded within reform efforts. Specifically:

- **Governments** can include marginalised food system actors in country-specific design and implementation of reforms to consistency makers, and ensure policy coordination between line ministries, especially those responsible for agriculture and climate, and finance ministries and central banks.
- Corporations, private financial institutions and investors can address mounting concern

and declining trust over greenwashing by improving the robustness and granularity with which they assess, and mitigate, risks and benefits to small-scale agrifood actors in their supply chains and investments.

• Small-scale agrifood actors can themselves organise and act collectively to demonstrate alternative models that encourage finance to flow to activities consistent with climate-resilient development, such as participatory guarantee systems (locally focused certification schemes).

Ultimately, governments, as Parties to the Paris Agreement, have responsibility for implementing Article 2.1(c), both at the national and international levels. As such, and backed by the investment, business, civil society and research communities, they need to coordinate across financial, climate and food systems agendas. To drive progress:

- The climate negotiations and related country-level processes must pay closer attention to equitable implementation of Article 2.1(c) in critical sectors and systems, such as small-scale agrifood.
- Food system fora, including follow-ups to the UN Food System Summit, should engage with Article 2.1(c) and harness its full potential, as a goal of a legally binding international treaty, to drive finance flows towards resilient, sustainable food system transformation.
- Together, the climate and food system communities need to motivate **other key stakeholders with influence over the financial system**, including ministries of finance and central banks at the national level, as well as the fora for deliberating and guiding the many aspects of the global financial architecture which need reform, from multilateral development bank evolution to trade reform and debt relief.

1 Introduction: What is Article 2.1(c) and why does it matter for small-scale agrifood systems?

1.1 Objectives

This paper is the second in a pair of reports exploring how climate-resilient development can be supported through the implementation of the third long-term goal of the Paris Agreement, Article 2.1(c). As identified in the first paper, acknowledging the importance of climate-resilient development within Article 2.1(c) requires that implementation does not focus solely on climate change mitigation, but equally supports adaptation and sustainable development for all (Robertson *et al.*, 2023).

This paper looks at how this could be done in the context of small-scale agrifood systems, which play a key role in climate-resilient development, support the livelihoods of 2–3 billion people and supply up to 70% of food consumed in low- and middle-income countries (IFAD, 2021b). The paper has two, interlinked objectives:

- To enhance the relevance of Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement by exploring how it can be implemented in a way that can support climateresilient development – including by increasing finance for adaptation investments – in smallscale agrifood systems.
- To engage agrifood system stakeholders in efforts to implement Article 2.1(c) as a key, internationally agreed long-term goal that can support food system transformation as well as climate action.

1.2 Key concepts

1.2.1 Article 2.1(c) and 'consistency makers'

Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement is as follows:

2. This Agreement, in enhancing the implementation of the Convention, including its objective, aims to strengthen the global response to the threat of climate change, in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty, including by ...

(c) Making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient development.

(UNFCCC, 2015: 3)

The technical Dialogue for the first Global Stocktake indicated that Article 2.1(c) is increasingly understood to encompass the entire financial system, including international and domestic as well as public and private flows; requires redirecting financial flows away from activities and infrastructure that lack resilience; and means unlocking additional finance in support of climate-resilient development (UNFCCC, 2023e). We adopt this expansive framing and, in line with the latter point, identify how Article 2.1(c) can be used both to mobilise and shift finance.¹

In principle, Article 2.1(c) has equal prominence with the long-term goals relating to limiting global temperature increases and fostering adaptation - Articles 2.1(a) and (b). By implication, it is also essential to achieving those other long-term goals. However, Article 2.1(c) has remained contested and has not been formally incorporated into negotiations on finance under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). National governments (i.e. Parties to the UNFCCC) and non-state actors have varying interpretations of Article 2.1(c), and its relationship to other parts of the Paris Agreement regarding finance, for example the concern that it could be used by developed countries to distract from their commitments to provide and mobilise climate finance for developing countries under Article 9 (Zamarioli et al., 2021; Watson, 2022).

Much of the research and dialogue around Article 2.1(c) has also focused on ensuring consistency with a pathway towards low emissions. Climate-resilient development, which in the framing of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) requires simultaneous consideration of sustainable development, poverty alleviation, adaptation and mitigation, has received less attention (Schipper *et al.*, 2022; Naidoo *et al.*, 2023; Robertson *et al.*, 2023). There has also been little consideration of how it might be implemented in practice, for example in specific sectors or systems, including agrifood systems.²

COP28 in December 2023 saw agreement to continue a series of dialogues in 2024 and 2025 on Article 2.1(c) and its relationship with Article 9 (UNFCCC, 2023b). The outcome of the first Global Stocktake – the Paris Agreement's mechanism for ratcheting up ambition – recognised the importance of Article 2.1(c) and its complementarity with (but not substitutability for) Article 9, as well as noting limited progress to date and the need for further understanding (UNFCCC, 2023c).

In the absence of formal, negotiated consensus on how to approach Article 2.1(c), the first report identified an initial set of 'consistency makers' – the institutions, rules and regimes that govern and regulate finance flow owners, and the incentives and disincentives that influence their decisionmaking, including with respect to climate-resilient development (Robertson *et al.*, 2023).

We highlighted four categories of 'internal' consistency maker, largely determined by national governments through their laws and public

2 See for example FAIRR (2021) and Galt *et al.*, (2021) for consideration of aspects of the relevance of Article 2.1(c) to the agriculture sector, though with less focus on climate-resilient development, small-scale actors or food systems.

¹ Article 2.1(c) is often discussed as a call for 'shifting' finance away from harmful and into supporting activities, recognising that the issue of financing climate action is not a general lack of finance available in the financial system, but that this finance is going to the wrong investments. This logic fits well into the push for more finance for mitigation action, where the discussion is often about shifting finance away from fossil fuel-related investments and into renewable energy and energy efficiency investments. In the case of climate-resilient development, however, and particularly if we look at specific systems like small-scale agrifood, this redirection of finance is not the sole priority. In these cases, it might not be enough to shift finance within the system from harmful to supporting activities; it will also be necessary to increase the overall levels of finance going into these systems, and to focus on the quality of this finance and the way it is deployed to, among other things, avoid maladaptive practices.

policy:³ **financial policy and regulation** shaping the behaviour of banks, insurers, corporations and other financial actors; **fiscal policy** tools like subsidies and taxes; **public finance**, which here means the policy and spending influence of majority public-owned financial institutions like development banks (rather than public budgets as a financial flow); and **information instruments** that work by building awareness (Whitley *et al.*, 2018).

We also identified that many developing countries face challenges in putting internal consistency makers in place to advance climate-resilient development, especially for adaptation. Their ability to do so is often constrained by 'external' consistency makers arising from internationally agreed regimes or from the policies of other states – including regarding **sovereign debt treatment**, **trade regimes**, **tax cooperation** and **international banking** (Figure 1).

The previous report provides more detailed definitions of consistency makers, as well as several examples of their successful reform and proposals for how they need to be reformed further (Robertson *et al.*, 2023). It also highlighted the extent of the challenge – involving transformation not only of financial systems, but also of adjacent systems such as trade. Indeed, transformation is a widely claimed objective, but is still poorly defined. For this paper, the terms 'transformative adaptation' and 'food-system transformation' also require definition (Box 1).

Figure 1 Examples of internal and external consistency makers



Source: Robertson et al. (2023)

³ While the financial system involves a multitude of actors – public and private – we focus primarily on governments, individually and collectively, as having responsibility for fulfilling the objectives of the Paris Agreement, including making finance flows consistent with climate objectives.

Box 1 Defining 'transformation'

The IPCC defines transformational adaptation as 'adaptation that changes the fundamental attributes of a social-ecological system in anticipation of climate change and its impacts' (Lonsdale, Pringle and Turner, 2015). This is in contrast to incremental adaptations, which are 'understood as extensions of actions and behaviours that already reduce the losses or enhance the benefits of natural variations in extreme weather/climate events' (Möller et al., 2023: 2,898).

Transformation of food systems is often defined in terms of a desired set of changes compared to the current state (e.g., FSEC, 2024). Others have tried to define the core sense of the term – for example, the Scientific Group for the UN Food System Summit (UNFSS) argue that food system transformation 'refers to the objective of pursuing fundamental change of food systems ... Transformation is a never-ending process in food systems' (von Braun et al., 2023: 13). In a changing climate, addressing vulnerabilities and risks to livelihoods is a prerequisite for inclusive agrifood system transformation.⁴ Transformative adaptation should thus support a shift towards an agrifood system that generates higher welfare for people in poverty, and better nutritional and environmental outcomes (Lipper et al., 2021).

In the context of small-scale agrifood systems, principles put forward to support transformative adaptation include addressing risks across multiple time horizons; enhancing cross-sectoral and multi-level integration; and addressing vulnerability of livelihoods within the wider farming and ecological systems and landscapes within which they are situated (Fedele *et al.*, 2019; Loboguerrero *et al.*, 2019; Lipper *et al.*, 2022). Transformative adaptation may not be possible *in situ*, and could involve significant disruption and dislocation (Lipper et al., 2021; FSEC, 2024).

Finally, some authors have investigated the role of finance in transformative adaptation in agrifood systems. This suggests a need for further transformation in financial systems, including much greater prioritisation of investment in local-level knowledge and information services; tolerance for uncertain and delayed returns; and compensation for small-scale farmers and other food system actors for losses incurred, including arising from transformative adaptation itself (Vermeulen et al., 2018; Lipper et al., 2021). As important, but less emphasised, is the need to redirect finance away from activities that undermine transformative adaptation, for example investment in production systems that could boost income and household resilience in the near term but are unsuited to future climates.

⁴ In this paper transformative adaptation is used to refer to a process supporting an outcome – including transformational adaptation and food system transformation (following Vermeulen *et al.* (2018)).

1.2.2 Small-scale agrifood systems

This paper focuses on the transformation of small-scale agrifood systems, where food systems encompass the 'demand side' as well as supply, recognising the impacts of climate change on food security and nutrition and the importance of food consumption and diet to climate-resilient development (HLPE, 2017; Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022; Fanzo and Miachon, 2023). In turn, small-scale food systems are defined as :

a complex ecosystem of actors including smallscale producers (typically managing less than 2ha); other value chain actors (e.g., cooperatives, farmers' associations, and agri-MSMEs with no more than 250 employees and USD 5 million in annual turnover) that provide agricultural inputs, services, product aggregation and market linkages in upstream or downstream industries; *and people in poverty who rely on these systems for food security and nutrition.*

Chiriac et al. (2023); text in emphasis added⁵

Whether Article 2.1(c) can be implemented to benefit small-scale agrifood systems is a

key test of its relevance for climate-resilient development more widely. While small-scale agrifood system actors can have high climate vulnerability, they also play a key role in climateresilient development. Smallholder production systems provide over two-thirds of food calories in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. They generally operate in genetically diverse production systems, reducing risks from climate change and ecosystem degradation and nutritional deficiencies (Fanzo, 2017). Most of the world's poor people depend on agrifood systems for livelihoods (Lipper et al., 2022), and the scale of employment and engagement of MSMEs in these systems means they are vital for tackling poverty and distributing economic opportunity (IFAD, 2021b). Countries increasingly recognise the role of small-scale agrifood actors in their NDCs - or at least the role of smallholder farmers, which appear in 50 of 134 updated NDCs, compared to 24 previous NDCs (Bakhtary, Tucker and Fleckenstein, 2022). Despite this, there has been limited attention to climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems within the main multilateral fora for climate change and food system transformation (Box 2).

⁵ While Chiriac *et al.* (2023) do not explicitly include food consumers in their definition, rural families and communities around small-sale farmers are noted to be implicitly included.

Box 2 Small-scale actors in UN climate and food system fora

International climate change negotiations have only superficially explored small-scale agrifood systems, and less so the equitable implementation of Article 2.1(c). More in-depth work commenced with the establishment of the Koronivia Joint Work on Agriculture in 2017, which had a particular focus on 'the vulnerabilities of agriculture to climate change and approaches to addressing food security' (UNFCCC, 2018, p. 19). As such, small-scale agriculture is not specifically addressed or distinguished from larger-scale or industrial agriculture.

The Covid-19 pandemic and the start of the Ukraine conflict in 2022 increased attention to food security within the climate negotiations. COP27 recognised the key priority of tackling the issue by designing climate-resilient agrifood systems and 'applying a systemic approach in line with the long-term global climate objectives, further recognizing the importance of long-term investment in agriculture focused on this objective' (UNFCCC, 2023c: 17). This saw the establishment of the Sharm el Sheikh Joint Work on Agriculture and Food Security. The decision from COP27 also emphasises 'the urgent need to scale up action and support with regard to ... access to finance ... with a view to enhancing the adaptive capacity and resilience and reducing the vulnerability of farmers and other vulnerable groups, especially small-scale farmers, women and youth, in relation to climate change' (UNFCCC, 2023c: 19). However, negotiations to establish a roadmap for the Sharm el Sheikh Joint Work on Agriculture and Food Security at COP28 in Dubai did not progress (Brunton, 2023).

COP28 did see an important development in the adoption of the UAE Framework for Global Climate Resilience, which sought to guide the achievement of the Paris Agreement's Global Goal on Adaptation (UNFCCC, 2023a). This included a bespoke target affirming that, by 2030, the world would attain 'climate-resilient food and agricultural production and supply and distribution of food, as well as increasing sustainable and regenerative production and equitable access to adequate food and nutrition for all' (UNFCCC, 2023b: 2).

This target did not distinguish the particular needs and contribution of smaller-scale actors. It also lacks specificity and measurability, and leaves open several definitional questions (e.g. how climate-resilient, sustainable or regenerative food and agriculture is to be defined or measured). However, it went further in recognising the food system as a whole, including both supply- and demand-side elements.

Turning to the main UN forum addressing food systems, the UNFSS, the UN Secretary-General's Chair Summary and Statement of Action placed climate change – both adaptation and mitigation – as a defining challenge for food system transformation. It also recognised the potential for food system transformation to help in 'realizing the objectives of other international agreements, including ... the Paris Agreement' (UN, 2021). The Secretary-General's report on UNFSS+2 identified that, of 101 countries voluntarily reporting progress on transforming their food systems, over half recognised the urgency of adapting to climate change, though only a few indicated that they were mainstreaming food systems in their climate strategies (e.g. NDCs), and/or climate action in their food system transformation pathways (UN, 2023a). While small-scale (agri)food systems receive limited explicit mention in either the UNFSS or UNFSS+2 summaries, the vital importance of inclusion and equity is well recognised, especially in the action area *Advance Equitable Livelihoods, Decent Work, and Empowered Communities*.

1.3 Report overview

Section 2 of the paper focuses in further on smallscale agrifood systems and considers the status of climate-resilient development in these systems – including the interlinked aspects of adaptation, sustainable development and mitigation. Section 3 explores how action on consistency makers could be instrumental in increasing the quality and quantity of finance for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems, making a link to a set of specific investment priorities. Section 4 considers challenges and opportunities for implementing Article 2.1(c) in this context. Section 5 concludes the paper by proposing some priorities for climate and food system fora to better leverage Article 2.1(c) in support of climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems.

This report is an initial, largely conceptual mapping, albeit illustrated with tangible examples where possible. Larger-scale actors or components of the agrifood system are not the main focus, though they can play a role in supporting (or undermining) climate-resilient development for small-scale agrifood system actors. We do not attempt to quantify current or potential financing flows to climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems.⁶ We offer a broad menu of relevant actions and options to make better use of consistency makers, but not a country-specific blueprint – which will require much deeper country-level research.

⁶ For an estimate of finance flows to food systems in general see Díaz-Bonilla (2023b).

2 What is the status of climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems?

2.1 Observed and future climate change impacts on small-scale agrifood systems

The IPCC 6th Assessment Report found that climate change is already stressing agrifood systems, with negative consequences for livelihoods, food security and nutrition. Agricultural productivity growth has slowed in mid and low latitudes, due to human-induced climate change. Warming has also negatively impacted food quality and harvest stability by altering the distribution, growing area suitability and timing of key biological events, such as flowering and insect emergence. Additionally, climate impacts can affect other parts of the supply chain, from postharvest to food consumption, including activities like storage and transportation (Figure 2). Impacts along the value chain can alter the four dimensions of food security: availability, access, utilisation and stability (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022).

Although the observed impacts of climate change affect everyone, some groups are more vulnerable than others, due to intersecting factors including gender, location (including options for mobility or the presence of other risks such as conflict), livelihood strategy and income (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022; Ayanlade *et al.*, 2023). It is expected that small-scale producers and the agri-MSMEs that serve them will face some of the most severe impacts of climate change but have limited capacity to address them (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023).

	pac		a.g	
Yields reduced Producer income falls		Pests and disease damage reduce quality and quantity	Losses of perishable items to higher temperatures/humidity More expense to marketing system	More spoilage, reduced availability Impacts in other sectors reduce income available
Production (farm, pasture, fisheries		Post-harvest, storage	Transportation	Consumption-quality and availability
Maize yields fall by 23% in the 21st century with	ze yields fall by 23% 1e 21st century with gh GHG emissions	Aflatoxin contamination will increase in maize in a +2°C temperature	Increase in temperature from 17°C to 25 °C increases cold storage	Uptake of methyl mercury in fish and mammals has been found to increase by

Figure 2 Examples of impacts of climate change on the agrifood system

Future impacts of climate change on agrifood systems will often differ from current observable impacts, including on crops, cropping systems and livelihoods. For example, future climate scenarios indicate significant changes in patterns of suitable areas for crops currently sustaining smallholder farmers across Central America. Some crops will gain suitability at higher altitudes but suffer significant reductions in total suitable areas, while others are expected to gain suitability over new areas currently dominated by highervalue crops. These impacts of climate change have implications for the design of adaptation strategies and responses across farming systems (Ovalle-Rivera et al., 2015; Bouroncle et al., 2017; Hannah et al., 2017).

2.2 Climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems

Climate-resilient development seeks to achieve and reconcile adaptation, mitigation and sustainable development for all. Small-scale agrifood systems present a range of challenges and opportunities for each of these objectives, and particular tradeoffs, as well as synergies, can arise between them.

Adaptation

Adaptation actions in small-scale agrifood systems could include autonomous adaptation, which refers to behavioural changes by individuals and households in response to climate change impacts (Petzold *et al.*, 2023). The IPCC identifies varying levels of evidence and confidence in the ability of autonomous adaptation actions to address climate risks and different SDGs. There are also barriers to using several of the options, for example socioeconomic and political limitations to increasing the uptake of climate-resilient crops and breeds (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022). Overall, climate-resilient and low-emission irrigation systems and infrastructure, agroecology and agroforestry practices, better soil management practices and crop diversification are particularly relevant to small-scale farming (IFAD, 2023b).

Beyond autonomous adaptation, there are an increasing number of government-led planned adaptation initiatives, such as coordination mechanisms, disaster and emergency planning and social safety net interventions. However, as for autonomous adaptation, government-led adaptation support has often been insufficient due to disenabling policies and an inability to mobilise the finance needed (FAO, 2023a).

To enable the adoption of adaptation options across the most vulnerable farmers, there is a need for increased access to finance, strengthened institutional capacities and networks, policies and regulations, value-chain development, subsidy reform and enhanced access to markets (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022). As explored below, these priorities overlap considerably with the required actions to make finance flows consistent with climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems.

In addition to adaptation by and for food producers, adaptation actions are needed along the value chain. Elsewhere in the supply chain, responses that have high adaptation potential include improved food service infrastructure, improved efficiency and sustainability of food processing and retail, reduced food loss and urban and peri-urban agriculture. Demand management actions that have high adaptation potential include dietary changes, reduced food waste, packaging reductions and transparency of food chains and external costs (Rosenzweig *et al.*, 2020).

Sustainable development

Small-scale agrifood systems are important for sustainable development as they can provide opportunities and address challenges around poverty reduction and income equality, food security and nutrition, and environmental sustainability. For instance, the role of small-scale production systems in providing employment, creating and distributing wealth and stimulating economic growth mean they can play a central role in poverty reduction (Arulingam et al., 2022). In low- and middle-income countries, small-scale farmers are the foundation of food supply and play a significant role in ensuring national food and nutrition security (IFAD, 2021b). When compared to large, mono-crop plantations, small-scale farmers are more likely to save and protect biodiversity and employ regenerative and nature-based techniques (Lario, 2024).

Mitigation

Small-scale agriculture in developing countries, including agriculture and land use change, is estimated to contribute to approximately 5% of global emissions (Vermeulen and Wollenberg, 2017) . The per capita CO, emissions from smallholder production and consumption are very low, but small farms sometimes produce agricultural crops and livestock that have relatively high greenhouse gas (GHG) intensities (Cohn et al., 2017). Therefore, despite these small contributions, putting small-scale agrifood systems on pathways to low emissions still presents an opportunity to mitigate climate change (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023). Across the food system, there are several actions with high emissions reduction potential. On the supply side, these include improved crop management responses such as increased soil organic matter content, precision fertilizer management and the use of alternatives to synthetic fertilizers, agroforestry, changes in cropping area, land rehabilitation

and perennial farming (Rosenzweig *et al.*, 2020; Calvo, 2022). Reducing food loss while tackling food waste is a key mitigation intervention on the demand side (Rosenzweig *et al.*, 2020).

Key synergies and trade-offs in pursuing climate-resilient development in smallscale agrifood systems

There are multiple adaptation, mitigation and development objectives and actions that can be taken to pursue synergies across them and cobenefits between each. Adaptation, mitigation and sustainable development interventions can be implemented in portfolio packages rather than as discrete options (Schipper et al., 2022). This holds true for food systems, as adaptation and mitigation can be simultaneously achieved with a portfolio of practices, which can sometimes have additional sustainable development co-benefits to livelihoods, biodiversity and others. For example, crop management practices can increase crop production (thereby increasing food supply) (SDG 2), but can also increase resilience and reduce greenhouse gas emissions (SDG 13) from agricultural systems (Rosenzweig et al., 2020; Trisos et al., 2022). Different types of irrigation including drip and small-scale irrigation can contribute to increased agricultural productivity (SDG 2), improve income (SDG 1) and food security (SDG 2) and increase resilience to long-term changes in precipitation (SDG 13) (Bjornlund, Bjornlund and Van Rooyen, 2020; Trisos et al., 2022).

However, while there are synergies in mitigation, adaptation and sustainable development, there are also trade-offs. Some adaptation strategies could exacerbate existing poverty and vulnerability or introduce new inequalities, and can undermine greenhouse gas mitigation and broader development goals. Mitigation efforts can be maladaptive, and some sustainable development efforts can increase vulnerability in certain segments of the population (Schipper *et al.*, 2022). For example, at a local level agroforestry in cocoa and coffee production can support food and fuel provision, sequester carbon and enhance a range of ecosystem services. However, depending on how it is implemented, it may also result in higher water demand, disrupt hydrology, reduce biodiversity and reduce resilience of certain plants (Schipper *et al.*, 2022). At a national level, participatory modelling suggests that several countries in Southern and Eastern Africa may need to expand agricultural areas if nutrition security is to be secured by mid-century, a process that has often historically resulted in increased greenhouse gas emissions (Jennings *et al.*, 2024).

Potential synergies and trade-offs thus need to be identified and managed. Those synergies and trade-offs will vary just as stakeholders in small-scale agrifood systems vary (Box 3). The spatial and temporal boundaries over which synergies and trade-offs arise will also need to be carefully considered – for example by addressing climate-resilient development of smallholder farmers in the context of the wider social and ecological systems supporting their well-being (Fedele *et al.*, 2019).

Box 3 Acknowledging variation in small-scale agrifood systems

Even for small-scale producers farming under 2ha, or MSMEs with less than 250 employees and \$5 million turnover (as per our definition), there is huge variation – as there is among poor food consumers who rely on these producers and intermediaries. In the context of climate-resilient development, this variability also means significant variations in adaptation, sustainable development and mitigation capabilities and opportunities.

On the production side, a range of typologies attempt to capture this variability, including by farm system, livelihood strategy or socio-ecological system (Malek et al., 2019; Stringer et al., 2020).

Although this paper necessarily simplifies the diversity of actors within small-scale agrifood systems, in practice differentiated approaches are key to close the significant gaps in adaptation.

- Recent assessments for Northern Central America (USDA and CATIE, 2023) led to differentiated approaches targeting a typology of farming systems. Smallholder farmers growing staple grains, livestock, coffee and vegetables suffered high impacts from multiple climate extremes and showed lowest adaptive capacity. Proposed adaptation approaches focused on long-term investments in building on-farm natural capital for improved fertility and water availability, synergies with food security and nutrition needs and stronger reliance on government assistance.
- Vegetable farming systems tended to be more integrated to markets, enabling a role for agribusiness in providing services for adaptation practices combined with value-chain development.
- Agroforestry systems (coffee, cocoa, cardamom and fruit trees) showed lower climate impacts and higher adaptive capacity. Integration into complex value chains offered potential opportunities for adaptation responses through access to finance and payment for providing ecosystem services benefits.

Source: CATIE

2.3 Climate finance to small-scale agrifood systems

Although 'dedicated' climate finance is not the sole focus of Article 2.1(c), as understood in this paper it plays an instrumental role in climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems.

The share of adaptation finance in 'dedicated' climate finance remains small, and in some years has tended to decrease. For example, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) estimated in 2023 that adaptation finance declined in 2021, reaching \$24.6 billion out of \$89.6 billion provided and mobilised by developed countries for climate action in developing countries (OECD, 2023b). Considering increasing adaptation needs, UNEP estimates put the adaptation finance gap at \$194–366 billion per year (UNEP, 2023). While adaptation finance has not increased fast enough to meet adaptation needs, development finance has not always taken adaptation outcomes into consideration. This has led to existing development pathways not advancing the goal of climate-resilient development (Schipper *et al.*, 2022).

In 2019/20, climate finance to small-scale agrifood systems was \$5.53 billion, representing 0.8% of total climate finance across all sectors (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023). The unmet general financing needs of smallholder farmers have been estimated at \$170 billion annually, and for agri-SMEs the estimate is \$106 billion (ISF Advisors, 2022). Climate finance to agrifood systems in general is at least seven times lower than estimated needs, based on proxy but conservative estimates (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023). The amounts to small-scale agrifood systems in 2019/20 represented a 44% decrease in climate finance to the sector compared to 2017/18 (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023). Despite the decline in finance the sources, instruments, objectives and geographic distribution of finance remained similar.

3 How can implementing Article 2.1(c) support small-scale agrifood systems?

3.1 Linking Article 2.1(c) implementation to more and better investments for smallscale agrifood systems

Actions to improve 'consistency' of finance flows will only enhance climate-resilient development if they result in greater quantity and quality of investments by and for small-scale food system actors, and/or deter investments that work against their interests. We therefore need to draw a link to the investments that are to be financed and the finance flows that are at stake. The framing that we use to make these links is as follows:

• The framing builds from the ground up, first outlining **six categories of investment** for climate-resilient development (Figure 3, shown in green). These are broad groupings of items of expenditure by and for small-scale food system actors. Evidence linking investments to adaptation and wider climate-resilient development outcomes is limited, including in agrifood systems (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 3 Investment categories for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems

- Nonetheless, we build on recent typologies of responses for adaptation and wider climate-resilient development in this context (see Appendix 1) to focus on the following investment categories:
 - Governance for financial and natural resources, including investment in enhanced public financial management; strengthened social protection systems; and reform of land and water rights in the interests of small-scale food system actors.
 - Human capital, including investments for agricultural research and extension services as well as wider climate education, and health services and public health infrastructure – requiring a gender transformative approach to address the significant gender inequalities affecting women and girls in small-scale food systems.
 - Risk management, which includes investment in climate information services and financial mechanisms to mitigate the impacts of climate risks, such as weather index insurance and complementary measures to enhance access for small-scale actors.
 - Farm management, for example the inputs, infrastructure and knowledge for crop and livestock diversification, or enhanced soil and water management.
 - Supply chain actions including infrastructure, information and capacity to enhance climate resilience along the supply chain (i.e., for storage, distribution, processing, packaging and marketing of food and related products) – potentially requiring significant public investment (e.g. roads, energy grids) and transboundary coordination where supply chains cross borders.
 - Demand actions, for example investments to improve the availability of, physical access to and affordability of sustainably produced,

healthy food, and to promote diets that can support health and thus resilience at an individual and population level.

- The investment categories are aligned **across the agrifood system** which is divided into three broad elements, shown in purple in the figure (HLPE, 2017; ADB, 2021). Three investment categories are most relevant to specific stages of the value chain: farm management investments at the production stage; other supply-chain actions in the midchain (storage to markets); and demand actions, which influence consumption, diet and nutrition. Three further, foundational investment categories are relevant across the continuum: risk management, human capital and governance.
- Collectively, these investments address **the range of climate risks** arising along the food system value chain, shown in orange (Bezner Kerr *et al.*, 2022; Owino *et al.*, 2022). While our focus is on climate risks in line with the emphasis on Article 2.1(c), these should be seen within a wider frame of risks to, and resilience of, agrifood systems (FAO, 2021).

Action to enhance consistency makers will not affect investments directly, but by mobilising and directing the finance that flows towards these investments. The investment categories are therefore situated as destinations for a range of finance flows upon which the consistency makers can act (shown in green in Figure 4):

• Finance flows: Building on Díaz-Bonilla (2023b), a distinction is made between finance flows that originate from actors 'within' small-scale agrifood markets, namely purchases and investments by producers, other value chain operators and consumers (top) and between flows outside this market, namely international development funds, public budgets, the banking system and capital markets.⁷ While the greater challenge is arguably to scale up flows into small-scale agrifood systems (i.e. increasing the magnitude of flows), there is also a need to redirect finance flows away from activities that are harmful to small-scale agrifood system stakeholders. Examples include deployment of public budgets or supply chain finance from value chain operators which incentivises smallholder farmers to over-use inputs, overexploit resources, or select crops that are unsustainable or will not be resilient to a changing climate.

• **Consistency makers:** Shown as the encompassing layer, including both the primarily national layer of internal consistency makers most relevant to domestic flows, and external consistency makers that primarily operate at the international level to shape cross-border financial flows.

Figure 4 Linking consistency makers to investments for climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems



Figures 3 and 4 are offered as organising devices for the analysis, rather than a conclusive typology. The terms and categories and their relationships are not presented as definitive or comprehensive. The food system transformation agenda has, like climate action, seen a growing emphasis on high-level factors that direct, shape and mobilise finance flows – for example the Food Finance Architecture advanced for UNFSS (World Bank, FOLU and IFPRI, 2021; Díaz-Bonilla, 2023c; 2023a; Hamirani, 2023). Many complementary, and potentially supplementary, ideas have been

⁷ See Díaz-Bonilla (2023b) for further explanation and a preliminary estimate of the magnitude of each flow to food systems in general (not specific to small-scale agrifood systems).

explored in support of other agrifood system transformation objectives besides climate change mitigation or adaptation – such as eliminating hunger and achieving SDG2. We build on this work but recognise that there will be scope to further improve complementarity and strategic alliances as the food and climate communities engage to mobilise and shift finance flows.

3.2 Consistency makers for small-scale agrifood systems

This section considers internal and external consistency makers relevant to mobilising, and shifting and improving the use and management of, finance flows to support climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems. Often, consistency makers can mobilise, shift and improve finance towards combinations of investment categories as well as individual categories.

Before this discussion, there are three important caveats. First, in contrast to measures to make finance flows consistent with low emissions, there is not always a clear 'bad' which finance flows need to be shifted away from. For example, many current agricultural support measures (e.g. subsidies and tax breaks) target a range of social, economic and environmental benefits. Supporting smallholder livelihoods and food security is already a central policy goal of such measures in numerous countries, including Brazil and India (Bellmann, 2019). Thus, efforts to improve consistency of finance flows with climate-resilient development involve significant trade-offs (Díaz-Bonilla, 2023b).

Second, as with all internal consistency makers, reforms are more likely to benefit small-scale actors that are already financially included. In the case of agricultural support, the poorest and most vulnerable may not be able to access government support or tax advantages – for example undocumented migrants or children providing farm labour or working in food supply chains.

Third, it should be noted that reforming or adjusting consistency makers may not be cost-neutral and could itself require investment – often in governance, for example to include climate-resilient development objectives in planning processes, adjust delivery systems and improve monitoring and reporting (Damania *et al.*, 2023; OECD, 2023a).

Internal consistency makers

Fiscal policy

Fiscal policy can redirect finance away from activities and investments that have negative impacts on the climate-resilient development of agrifood systems and promote unhealthy diets, and into those that can have positive impacts. Well-targeted public budgets and taxation can also be used to crowd in additional finance for agrifood system transformation from private actors, including smallholder farmers and MSMEs.

A key set of fiscal policy measures to promote transformation involve the reform of agricultural support programmes, including subsidies and tax breaks. Currently, subsidies based on input use and output constitute the majority of support provided to the agriculture sector in many countries. These measures can worsen climate vulnerabilities and increase GHG emissions, can have negative impacts on the environment by increasing water pollution and deforestation, can reduce efficiency, and in many cases are regressive, with poorer households receiving a smaller share of the support (Damania *et al.*, 2023).

Despite the noted complexities of reforming agricultural support, there are some generally applicable priorities. In many countries, redirecting part of current support away from encouraging unsustainable production and consumption, and into the provision of public goods, could enhance human capital, support farm management, strengthen the supply chain and build demand for more sustainable and nutritious food. Such public goods include research and development, infrastructure and biosecurity services (OECD, 2023a). Naturebased solutions - which can constitute public goods at a landscape scale - can also be promoted through public subsidies, for example where these are offered as payment for ecosystem services (Bellmann, 2019). Climate, health and sustainability considerations can be deliberately prioritised in the redesign of such public goods, to further align public finance with climate-resilient development objectives (FAO, 2023a).

Another reform with broadly applicable benefits is to redirect production support away from payments for specific purposes, such as input or production payments, towards broader social assistance measures. This can safeguard social equity, and may be more politically feasible. General cash transfers have been shown to have positive impacts on food security, poverty and human capital (HLPE, 2012). When directed to farmers, they can still serve to stimulate investments in more resilient agriculture (Box 4) and potentially livelihood diversification. A further relevant option is to use subsidies to encourage uptake of risk management tools (Box 5). For example, premium subsidies can be key to enhance uptake of agricultural insurance amongst poorer producers and MSMEs, but need to be carefully targeted, include an exit strategy and be embedded in broader risk management strategies and programmes (IFAD, 2021a).

Besides their tax and subsidy regimes, governments can also wield influence through their procurement choices and processes. Small-scale producers and MSME processors can struggle to meet the quality, safety, volume and other requirements of many government food procurement regimes. However, redesign is possible, including using school meal programmes to engage and benefit small-scale actors on both supply and demand sides of the agrifood system (Fanzo and Miachon, 2023).

It should be noted that adjusting fiscal policy measures such as subsidies will itself require investments in governance, for example to include climate-resilient development objectives in the planning process, enhance public financial management and adjust delivery systems (HLPE, 2012; Damania *et al.*, 2023; OECD, 2023a).

Box 4 Shifting subsidies towards general cash transfers: supporting technology adoption by farmers in Uttar Pradesh, India

India's system of payments to farmers has historically sought to incentivise production, with a shift in emphasis to promote the economic well-being of farmers with the National Policy for Farmers in 2007. The introduction of the Pradhan Mantri Kisan Samman Nidhi (PM-KISAN) scheme in 2018 marked a move to payments not requiring production (OECD, 2023a). PM-KISAN provides farmers with minimum income support of around \$75 a year. Although the cash transfer is general and does not have to be spent on agricultural investments, it is intended to help farmers purchase inputs. Evidence from Uttar Pradesh suggests it has succeeded in this objective, stimulating adoption of modern cultivars, in combination with farm science centres (Varshney et al., 2020).

Box 5 Accelerating penetration of crop insurance through premium subsidies in Peru

In Peru, a significant majority of government support to agriculture has focused on producers, rather than general services. Nonetheless, the government has been experimenting with producer support which is not directly coupled to production (OECD, 2019). The Ministry for the Development of Agriculture and Irrigation has progressively extended the SAC (Seguro Agrícola Catastrófico), a crop insurance product with 100% premium subsidy. SAC covered 950,000 farms largely engaged in subsistence farming in the 2020–2021 season. Since its establishment in 2009, SAC has increased competition among administering insurance companies and requires them to provide financial education to smallholder farmers on risk management (Zegarra Aguilar, 2021).

Public finance

Many MSMEs that are part of agrifood system value chains, particularly those working on input provision and farming, have limited access to finance because they fall within the so-called 'missing middle' between commercial banks and microfinance institutions (IFAD, 2015). Public development banks (PDBs) and related institutions like credit guarantee agencies have a key role in serving this 'missing middle'. They already account for the majority of formal financing for agriculture (Houngbo, 2021). However, they could play a greater role in shifting finance for agrifood system transformation including as part of Article 2.1(c) implementation.

PDBs can play a role in the direct provision of finance to goods and services that support climate-resilient development throughout the agrifood system's value chain, including for smallscale actors. Examples include climate-resilient rural roads or irrigation infrastructure (Kenney, Visser and Zysman, 2021; van Gaal *et al.*, 2023). However, in considering Article 2.1(c) consistency makers, equally if not more important to the finance that PDBs can provide are the signals they can send to the financial market. PDBs can go beyond direct provision of finance through lending to redistribute risks and shape the economy towards specific goals (Mazzucato, 2023).

PDBs active in the agrifood system have often focused on increasing productivity and production and have lacked approaches to include different aspects of climate-resilient development in their financing, including considerations of social equity, financial inclusion and environmental sustainability (Viganò, 2021; Raina and Nair, 2023). To fulfil expanded roles in pursuit of such goals, PDBs will themselves need investment to strengthen governance and capacity (Domke, 2022). Challenges that led to the erosion and sometimes elimination of PDBs from agrifood financing in the 1980s and 1990s reflected widespread problems in ensuring effective incentives and controls (Díaz-Bonilla, 2015).

Box 6 Strengthening resilient small-scale production: BNDES in Brazil's Northeast region

The Brazilian development bank BNDES launched a programme in 2023 to offer financing for integrated agroforestry projects in Sertão, a semi-arid region in the country's Northeast. The financing will be channelled to four states, which in turn provide funds and technical assistance to member-based rural organisations. Funds can be used for actions that intensify small-scale production in ways that enhance climate resilience and sequester carbon, including via ecosystem-based solutions and improved water management. Significant external financial support has been needed, however, with over half of the investment package of \$273 million coming from loans and grants from IFAD and the Green Climate Fund. The Brazilian government provides a guarantee (IFAD, 2023a).

Through their policies, strategies and lending, PDBs can play an important role in demonstrating a thorough, practically applicable approach to climate risk management, which commercial banks can emulate. They can also implement approaches that help to reach small-scale segments of the market, for example by using value chain bundling approaches to provide insurance along with other services (Viganò, 2021).

PDBs can also deploy their finance and establish partnerships to crowd in new investors, share risks and rewards and encourage responsible risktaking to support small-scale agrifood actors, for example for the adoption of new techniques and varieties adapted to a changing climate. They can invest in local financial institutions to reach SMEs. And they can act as intermediaries by aggregating smaller adaptation and resilience-building projects (Finance in Common, 2021; van Gaal *et al.*, 2023). Indeed, aggregation can be essential to leverage finance from other investors. Products such as green and sustainable bonds can serve this purpose as long as due consideration is given to debt sustainability (Box 7).

Box 7 Mexico's FIRA: attracting private investment through green and resilience bonds and aggregating small loans in agriculture value chains

The Mexican development finance institution Fideicomisos Instituidos en Relación con la Agricultura (FIRA) has issued several green bonds to finance or refinance its loan portfolio. This portfolio includes many small loans issued to producers and other value chain participants for agriculture system assets including precision irrigation and renewable energy (Qadir and Pillay, 2021). In 2023, FIRA issued Latin America's first green resilience bond of over \$150 million, to promote investment in projects to improve the productivity and resilience of food producers and other value chain participants. The new bond is compatible with Mexico's Sustainable Taxonomy, which may serve to increase credibility for investors (Galeana, 2023).

Financial policies and regulations

While PDBs can collaborate with and influence private financial institutions and corporations, governments have other, more direct regulatory tools. Central banks play an important role, shaping financial policies and regulations that channel more finance to increase the resilience of small-scale agrifood systems. They can adjust Capital Adequacy Ratios or Statutory Minimum Reserves to better reflect the risks associated with lending to small-scale actors in the agrifood value chain. They can also consider introducing new facilities or credit lines to commercial financial institutions for on-lending to small-scale agrifood system stakeholders at lower interest rates (Ahiaku and Milder, 2022).

The establishment of schemes such as Priority Sector Lending in India (Box 8) can help channel more finance to SMEs by relaxing lending norms and setting targets for lending (FAO, 2022). Such 'developmental central bank' policies would constitute a revival of an important component of agrifood financing in the 1960s and 1970s. However, robust monitoring is needed (at potentially higher cost) to verify that loan proceeds are used for initiatives that support climate-resilient development. Renewal of such developmental mandates and approaches would also need to be undertaken carefully alongside other central banking mandates, above all control of inflation through monetary policy (Díaz Bonilla, 2023a).

Financial regulators can also encourage private investors by providing data, benchmarks and guidelines to make it easier to identify investment opportunities that support adaptation and prevent maladaptation – for example through green taxonomies (Box 9). Similarly, they can support the development of standardised monitoring, reporting and verification systems for impact reporting and promote transparency and accountability (Casey *et al.*, 2021; Cosgrove *et al.*, 2023).

Box 8 India's central bank-mandated lending: contributing to financial inclusion and enhanced climate resilience of small-scale farmers

The Reserve Bank of India, the country's central bank, implements a Priority Sector Lending policy stipulating that nearly a fifth of net adjusted bank credit should be delivered to agriculture. Moreover, almost half of agriculture net adjusted credit should go to small and marginal farmers. In turn, the need to deliver subsidised credit has driven increased bank account coverage – spurred by Priority Sector Lending and other policies such as direct cash transfer of subsidies. Increased financial inclusion in rural areas has increased households' access to the liquidity needed to buffer against climate shocks (Chhatre et al., 2023).

Box 9 Small-scale farming in Colombia's green taxonomy

Colombia adopted a green taxonomy at national level in April 2022. Green taxonomies typically classify activities that contribute to environmental targets, providing a consistent and credible framework for investors. Colombia's green taxonomy has a tiered classification of land-use improvement activities, at three levels of cost and complexity. This brings into its scope activities with climate and other environmental benefits carried out by the country's large number of small farmers (World Bank, 2022).

Information instruments

Implementing Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement, and transforming agrifood systems in ways that do not leave small-scale actors behind, requires clear policy direction. This may be more general and less binding than regulation. For example, the establishment of clear national objectives - in strategies and policies for climate, finance, agriculture or other sectors - can send an 'information signal' to all actors involved in agrifood systems about the types of investments that are needed. Small-scale actors' contribution to climateresilient development and their needs can be explicitly recognised in such documents, though policy coordination beyond existing sectoral silos is often a challenge (FOLU, 2019; Díaz-Bonilla et al., 2023; Neufeld et al., 2023). Such policies can also enshrine a commitment to equity and justice as important principles for implementation (UN, 2020).

Green taxonomies can also act as important information instruments to guide market participants. Increasingly a mandatory part of financial regulation, as discussed above, taxonomies can also be introduced for voluntary compliance. Taxonomies can serve to redirect public expenditure, including by guiding the repurposing of agriculture subsidies and support. They can also guide disclosure of climate risk and labelling of financial products by private financial institutions and corporations (Chiriac, Vishnumolakala and Rosane, 2023; UNEP, 2023).

On the demand side of the food system, relevant information instruments include voluntary standards for marketing, such as labelling and certification schemes (FAO, 2023c). These can shape consumer choice and behaviour to increase the market for food that is produced under standards of sustainability, include climate and equity considerations, and encourage better diets to support healthier, more resilient populations. For example, raising consumer awareness is identified as a key enabler of uptake of more climate-resilient, nutritious and locally sourced alternatives to imported wheat in several countries in Africa (Noort *et al.*, 2022); see also Box 10.

It is important to stress that voluntary standards and certifications have shown mixed results (FAO, 2023c). This points to the need for a mix of policy measures leading to sustained and rapid changes throughout supply chains (TEEB, 2018; Arulingam *et al.*, 2022). Nonetheless, voluntary schemes can play a part.

Box 10 Farmer-directed product labelling in Nepal

In Nepal, the National Farmers' Group Federation has worked with smallholder farmers to develop a participatory guarantee system (PGS), a shared label that provides consumers with quality assurance. The PGS scheme includes organic certification, allowing producers to earn higher prices for their products, though it also encourages broader resilient and sustainable production practices, including enhanced water management and soil restoration. Norms and values underpinning the scheme are determined through a multi-stakeholder participatory mechanism at the local level, called Kishan Chautari (Farmers Dialogue Forum), comprising producer groups, service providers and government agencies (Andaya et al., 2022).

External consistency makers

There is increasing recognition that the current international financial architecture has not been able to mobilise finance to address climate change and support sustainable development at the scale and in the formats that are needed (Martens, 2023; PRI, 2023; UN, 2023b).

While rich countries' failure to meet commitments around climate and development finance are certainly part of the problem, the climate crisis, and current food price crisis, are driving a much broader set of issues up the agenda. These include higher borrowing costs for climate-vulnerable developing countries, varying access to liquidity in times of crisis, under-investment in global public goods including climate action and the exacerbation of existing volatility in financial markets (UN, 2023b). This limits the ability of developing countries to successfully implement internal consistency makers and therefore will negatively impact their ability to implement Article 2.1(c) of the Paris Agreement. The successful implementation of internal consistency makers that can channel finance for the transformation of the small-scale agrifood system can be facilitated or constrained by external consistency makers linked to the international financial architecture and related regimes such as for trade (Robertson *et al.*, 2023). In this section, we focus on three external consistency makers for which direct links to agrifood systems can be made, namely the regimes for sovereign debt, agrifood trade and international public banking. We do not aim to be comprehensive but rather provide clear examples of where external consistency makers will also need to be reformed.⁸

Sovereign debt regimes

Rising and unsustainable levels of debt limit the ability of countries to invest in climate and development across sectors. International debt is a necessary means for financing many investments for climate-resilient development, including in small-scale agrifood. However, the size and speed of growth of public debt stocks,

⁸ Other examples of external consistency makers include the international systems for cooperation on and governance of taxation, monetary policy, credit ratings, competition law, securities trading, insurance markets and corporate investment (Robertson *et al.*, 2023). Not all of these external consistency makers will necessarily have a direct impact on small-scale agrifood systems, though all can affect countries' ability to successfully implement internal consistency makers across different sectors and systems.

as well as regimes for repayment, are seen as increasingly problematic for many developing countries (UNCTAD, 2023). Debt regimes can negatively affect fiscal space and increase exposure to shocks, constraining government budgets and making it harder to utilise internal consistency makers.

Unsustainable food systems contribute to the debt crisis currently confronting many countries. Boom-bust cycles in agrifood commodity markets have historically increased many developing countries' debt-to-GDP ratios, while also undermining small-scale producers. For example, the food price spike of 2007–2008 was followed by a downturn that reduced many countries' export earnings and increased their debt-to-GDP ratios, while flooding the market with cheap imported grain that undercut small farmers. Meanwhile, on the demand side of the food system, unsustainable debt levels are also likely to result in rising rates of poverty and hunger, as developing countries that are highly dependent on agrifood and agricultural input imports see their ability to pay for these reduced (IPES-Food, 2023). Tackling this issue will require a global response, based on a more comprehensive multilateral debt restructuring process (Robertson *et al.*, 2023). It will be key for this effort to recognise the links between countries' indebtedness and unsustainable agrifood systems, which are themselves a cause of indebtedness in developing countries (IPES-Food, 2023).

Considering that the climate crisis will only exacerbate the existing debt situation, proposals like debt suspension clauses (DSCs), which suspend repayments for a period in case of natural disasters, are gaining momentum (Landers and Aboneaaj, 2023); (Box 11). Other proposals to tackle debt while simultaneously contributing to climate and environmental objectives, like debtfor-nature and debt-for-climate swaps, have the potential to contribute to developing countries' debt sustainability (Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2023; Whiting, 2023). However, their relative merit is still unclear and these solutions are unlikely to be a substitute for a comprehensive debt restructuring (Chamon et al., 2022; Mustapha, Talbot and Gascoigne, 2023).

Box 11 Grenada's pause clause: reprofiling debt service obligations in the event of climate-driven disasters

Grenada negotiated disaster pause clauses as part of its 2015 debt restructuring, whereby debt service could be reprofiled following a hurricane and some other types of disasters, for up to a year. The trigger is parametric, i.e. a set amount is paid based on the magnitude of an event (whereas traditional indemnity insurance pays based on the magnitude of losses). The triggers are independently verified by the Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility, with which Grenada already participates in a regional sovereign risk pool – essentially a weather index-based insurance policy. While these mechanisms form part of a wider, layered disaster risk financing architecture in Grenada, certain elements, including catastrophe insurance for agriculture, need further development. Disaster debt pause clauses more generally face complications including around triggers, legal and reputational risks and pricing (IMF, 2022; Mustapha, Talbot and Gascoigne, 2023).

Agrifood trade regimes

The links between climate change and agrifood trade are multifaceted. Fair and open agrifood trade can be an important adaptation strategy, while climate change impacts and policy responses to them can alter countries' comparative advantage in agrifood exports (Bozzola, Lamonaca and Santeramo, 2023). The recent COP28 Declaration on Sustainable Agriculture, Resilient Food Systems, and Climate Action highlighted the importance of a 'non-discriminatory, open, fair, inclusive, equitable and transparent multilateral trading system' for achieving its intended climate, food security and development objectives. Current trade rules and the influence of powerful trade and retail organisations downstream in global value chains can disadvantage small-scale producers, incentivise unsustainable production and consumption patterns, and fail to take into consideration food security concerns (CFS, 2013; Thompson *et al.*, 2023; WTO, 2023).

Many distortions to agrifood trade affecting food prices are linked to export subsidies and other support measures in higher-income countries that are coupled to production (Diaz-Bonilla and Callaway, 2018; ZEF & FAO, 2020). Reform of agriculture support programmes in these countries to decouple payments from production could bring benefits for lower-income countries, and their poor food consumers and small-scale producers(Diaz-Bonilla and Callaway, 2018) . Such reforms can also have positive effects in higherincome country markets, including for climate, food security, poverty alleviation, equality and sustainable growth (Anderson, 2018; Vos, Martin and Resnick, 2022).

However, in practice, reform to better account for the intricate relationship between trade, food prices and security, climate and other social and environmental considerations has been challenging. The current direction of travel has tended to offer more sticks than carrots for small-scale food system actors. For example, the Regulation on Deforestation-free products introduced by the EU has been seen as detrimental to small-scale farmers in affected value chains. There are already signs that coffee companies are scaling back purchases from Ethiopian smallholders because of costs and difficulties in assuring compliance (Angel and Kurniawati, 2023). However, proponents of the Regulation argue that, in the long term, smallholders may benefit from increased transparency and the ability to cut out brokers (Lieb, 2024).

On the demand side, the policy of public stockholding for food security purposes provides a second illustration of the complexities of reform. Under such policies, countries seek to purchase, stockpile and distribute food to people in need, including at times of climate-induced food insecurity. The practice is restricted under World Trade Organization (WTO) rules, since it can be trade-distorting where prices paid to farmers are fixed by governments. The suitability of public stockholding to address food security goals without adequate complementary mechanisms, such as social safety nets, has been questioned (Díaz-Bonilla, 2017). Nonetheless, some countries argue that a WTO-negotiated solution is needed, given growing food security challenges exacerbated by climate change (Hopewell and Margulis, 2023).

International public banking

Studies have repeatedly shown the need for increased provision of long-term, concessional funds to support developing countries to adapt to a changing climate and to pursue sustainable development (OECD, 2023b; UNEP, 2023). Multilateral development banks (MDBs) and other international financial institutions (IFIs), notably the International Monetary Fund (IMF), are wellplaced to play an expanded role in providing such finance, but numerous reforms are required, including improving MDBs' lending terms, increasing their lending in local currency, using MDB finance in blended finance approaches to mobilise additional private finance, and adjusting capital adequacy frameworks to unlock more financial resources (Kotzias *et al.*, 2023; Martens, 2023; PRI, 2023; Robertson *et al.*, 2023; UN, 2023b). A clear mandate and vision for MDBs to finance global public goods, such as climate change adaptation and mitigation, is also a necessary underpinning change (Kotzias *et al.*, 2023).

Such reforms, even if achieved across the board, will not necessarily mobilise or shift finance into climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems, or increase the ability of partner countries to prioritise the issue. MDB finance for adaptation in crop and food production in countries with a high prevalence of small-scale producers has in fact decreased in recent years (Chiriac *et al.*, 2023).

Proposals have also been made to direct an increased share of MDB/IFI resources, expanded through more general reforms, towards agrifood objectives including food security. An example is to use a proportion of Special Drawing Rights issued by the IMF to capitalise a fund guaranteeing zero hunger bonds issued by developing countries, to finance their efforts to achieve SDG2 and end hunger (Díaz-Bonilla, 2023b).

As important as the finance provided by MDBs and IFIs, and arguably more important in terms of 'consistency making', are the lending policies, accompanying advice and range of instruments offered to countries. Many MDBs are undertaking efforts towards 'Paris Alignment',⁹ and there is scope for this process to pay special attention to small-scale agrifood systems. The World Bank, for example, has issued sectoral guidance on applying its Paris Alignment Assessment Methods in agriculture and food. This covers many operations that would be relevant to small-scale agrifood systems, though climate-resilient development for small-scale actors specifically is not explicitly prioritised (World Bank, 2023a).

MDBs and the IMF are also seeking to drive adaptation and mitigation by requiring reform measures to access finance. This will need to be implemented carefully to avoid a new wave of 'green conditionality' that imposes additional costs or incentivises maladaptive policies. For example the IMF, in its operational guidance note for the new Resilience and Sustainability Facility (RSF), includes the example of increased use of drip irrigation as an expected outcome of RSF-required reforms (IMF, 2023). This can be one ingredient for managing agricultural water demand in a changing climate, but can also increase total water consumption due to rebound effects (Perry and Grafton, 2022). To avoid such maladaptive results, accompanying policy dialogue and technical support would also need to emphasise the key ingredient, namely a system for measuring and enforcing water entitlements and consumption across users, including by multiple small farmers.

In terms of types of support offered, MDBs can collaborate more with in-country commercial and public development banks in financing small-scale agrifood systems. Areas of collaboration include the provision of technical assistance, supporting

⁹ Multiple MDBs announced a vision to align all financial flows with the objectives of the Paris Agreement in 2017 and reiterated this vision in the 2018 MDB joint declaration on Paris Alignment.

domestic banks in establishing partnerships for blended finance, investing in data to better address climate-related and other risks and facilitating access to international climate finance (van Gaal *et al.*, 2023). MDBs could also support domestic insurance markets to extend coverage to small-scale actors across agrifood value chains. Interventions could include support for aggregation to address the high costs of serving many smaller-scale customers, and investments in the enabling environment, including climate services and regional risk-sharing models that provide a layer of protection between countries (Box 12).

Box 12 Stimulating the market for agrifood climate risk insurance in Africa

The African Development Bank is establishing the Africa Climate Risk Insurance Facility for Adaptation to develop the agrifood climate risk insurance market across Africa. Currently only about 3% of African smallholder producers are covered by insurance protection, while climate change caused over \$8.5 billion in economic damage across the continent in 2022 alone. The Facility aims to raise \$1 billion in concessional capital and grants, to be used to stimulate the development of insurance solutions through both primary insurers, and reinsurers operating at the continental and international level, as well as uptake by agrifood value chain operators (AfDB, 2023).

4 Challenges and opportunities for implementing Article 2.1(c) in small-scale agrifood systems

4.1 Key challenges

The implementation of Article 2.1(c) using internal and external consistency makers is likely to face numerous challenges. Many such challenges are structural and reflect the political economy of agrifood systems, including power imbalances between smaller- and larger-scale actors. Several are likely to be made worse by climate change (Vos, Martin and Resnick, 2022; Díaz-Bonilla *et al.*, 2023; Neufeld *et al.*, 2023).

There are three key challenges. First, limited meaningful representation and voice of small-scale stakeholders in the membership, decision-making, and governance of national and international institutions (Vos, Martin and Resnick, 2022). Second, unequal access to natural and financial capital; with access often mediated by political and economic power and shaped by investments of larger stakeholders in the agrifood system or from other sectors (Arulingam et al., 2022; Neufeld et al., 2023). Third, a set of structural challenges relating to the economics of agrifood systems and food system markets, which are characterised by an inherent volatility that affects food production and food availability (World Bank, FOLU, and IFPRI, 2021). Costs and risks for private investors in small-scale agrifood systems are elevated by both the small size and the diversity of small-scale actors (Díaz-Bonilla, 2023b).

All of these existing challenges for smallscale agrifood actors can be compounded by other inequalities related to gender, age and marginalisation (Arulingam *et al.*, 2022; Neufeld *et al.*, 2023)

Interventions that aim to include small-scale actors in agrifood systems' value chains without addressing such underlying challenges have only achieved small gains. Many have reproduced prior inequalities, for example by concentrating most of the benefits on better-off actors (Guarin et al., 2022). Interventions that fail to consider structural issues, or do not see small-scale actors as agents of change instead of passive recipients of support, have also shown limited positive results (Vargas Falla, Brink and Boyd, 2024). Models for agrifood climate resilience that rely on top-down approaches to innovation, and develop new technologies that are completely outside of the socioeconomic realities of small-scale actors, have seen limited adoption (Meah and Sharma, 2021).

Climate change and responses to it interact with these political economy challenges. Responses to climate change that do not account for the specific vulnerabilities and conditions of stakeholders can result in maladaptation, in turn increasing vulnerability, pollution and stress on land and water resources (FAO, 2022c; Birkmann *et al.*, 2023). Climate change is also likely to increase the volatility of food system markets and further increase the costs and risks for private investors (World Bank, FOLU and IFPRI, 2021).

The successful transformation of food systems in a changing climate will therefore require solutions that focus on the particular challenges of smallscale actors and address the constraints they face to the realisation of equity and inclusiveness (UN, 2020). Transformation will also depend on solutions being rights-based, including the right to food, tenure rights and right to food sovereignty (UN, 2018). Other principles with broad buy-in, such as those under the banner of locally led adaptation, can also provide useful guiderails (IIED, n.d.).

It will also be important to recognise the diversity of small-scale agrifood system actors, and the locations and countries in which they reside. There are no one-size-fits-all solutions that can drive transformation for climate-resilient development; therefore, exploring different pathways by which actors can achieve their development and climate goals is essential (Schipper *et al.*, 2022: 18).

4.2 Windows of opportunity

Internal consistency makers

Governments

Governments have a key role to play in implementing Article 2.1(c) to drive the transformation of small-scale agrifood systems. As Parties to the Paris Agreement, they also have responsibility for setting national objectives and implementing actions in line with the goals of the Agreement. Through public policies, they can increase overall finance flowing to these systems and climate-resilient development investments within them. They can redirect public finance and incentivise private finance away from activities harmful to climate- resilient development.

Ministries with responsibility for agrifood and climate change can improve the coherence of policy and implementation, as can those with responsibility for adjacent areas such as social protection and health. Ministries of finance, central banks and the government's executive branch and heads of government offices are also essential in this respect. Initiatives like the Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action show how climate change can be aligned with and mainstreamed into macroeconomic policy, fiscal planning and budgeting and investment management, as well as engaging in the formulation of climate policies and NDCs (Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action, no date).

Developing coherent and coordinated public policies, linked to a participatory process of goal setting, is key. This process will need to balance potential trade-offs at the level of the entire food system and consider the distribution of costs and benefits across the system (IPCC, 2019; Meah and Sharma, 2021; Neufeld et al., 2023). The participation of marginalised small-scale food system actors in the co-development of policies can lead to actions that are more equitable and reduce the risks of maladaptation (Pörtner et al., 2022). Attention to climate justice, including recognitional, procedural and distributional justice (Shaw et al., 2022) can also lead to more successful implementation by increasing political buy-in, as the example of the PM-KISAN scheme in India shows (Box 4).

Corporations, private financial institutions and investors

Larger-scale private stakeholders, including corporations and financial institutions, are both influenced by and can participate in shaping consistency makers. Many are themselves seeking to align with the goals of the Paris Agreement. In doing so, they can support the implementation of Article 2.1(c) by integrating adaptation considerations in their operations, and promoting adaption and resilience across their value chains and assets under management. Large-scale private sector entities can also provide finance, infrastructure and services to enhance resilience and promote adaptation for smallerscale agrifood actors (IPCC, 2022). However, risks of greenwashing and the potential incoherence introduced by a voluntary and fragmented approach to tackling the climate crisis have been flagged as concerns (UNFCCC, 2021), and voluntary standards and certifications have shown mixed results (TEEB, 2018; FAO, 2023c). The increasingly important role of the private sector in research and development has led to this research being tailored to the needs of larger stakeholders (Arulingam *et al.*, 2022).

The interplay between private and public entities, and the finance they bring, will be a key concern. The widespread desire to see scaled private finance in both climate and agrifood domains has catalysed renewed interest in blending - i.e. the use of public and philanthropic finance to attract private capital in developing countries (BFT, 2020; Randall, 2022). Scaling these opportunities will require bridging a public-private culture gap, and assertive public governance (Lankes, 2021). Peru's subsidy for crop insurance, the SAC, shows that it can be necessary to continuously evolve publicly subsidised schemes to drive private competition and innovation (Box 5). Alternative corporate governance models may be required that challenge the primacy of shareholders in favour of stakeholder governance, such as the benefit corporation model (Kirst et al., 2021). Moving away from voluntary initiatives and establishing clear responsibilities for large corporations, in the context of adaptation and resilience building, will also be important. Examples like the European Union's Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive, which seeks to establish obligations for large companies regarding adverse impacts on human rights and the environment due to their operations, including their value chains, are increasingly gaining traction and could be built on (European Council, 2023; Zerk, 2024).

Small-scale stakeholders in the agrifood system

The role of small-scale stakeholders in their own development and resilience-building will be fundamental, not as recipients of support but as agents of change (CFS, 2013; Díaz-Bonilla et al., 2023). Building their agency and ensuring their meaningful participation in decision-making should be a core part of the implementation of Article 2.1(c). For example, strengthening collective action, for instance through producer or consumer organisations, across the food system can ensure effective participation of small-scale stakeholders in decision-making (Neufeld et al., 2023). The participatory guarantee system for product labelling in Nepal shows that such organisations can play an instrumental role in shaping consistency makers for Article 2.1(c) (Box 10).

One review suggests that many interventions towards greater inclusion of smallholder producers in modern agrifood value chains have been undermined by flawed assumptions and implementation. Greater attention is needed to how informal markets and SMEs integrate smallscale producers, and to improve the supporting architecture of social protection and public goods (Guarin *et al.*, 2022). Ensuring greater access to and control over resources, particularly for women, including by promoting policies, frameworks and institutions that protect their rights, can help tackle inequalities (Díaz-Bonilla *et al.*, 2023)

External consistency makers

Making finance consistent with climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems will require international, cross-sector collaboration (Robertson *et al.*, 2023).

As in the case of internal consistency makers, inclusive and coordinated governance of external

consistency makers will be key (Robertson *et al.*, 2023). Multilateral initiatives will be crucial, and many of the reforms required, including related to governance, have been highlighted in initiatives such as the Bridgetown Initiative, the Summit for a New Global Financing Pact and preparations towards the UN Summit of the Future.

While many of these initiatives place special emphasis on climate change, fewer have moved to the operational level of specific sectors or systems – including the agrifood system and smaller-scale elements of that system. Enhancing this operational relevance requires coordination across financial, climate and food systems. Efforts to improve external consistency makers cannot be isolated to one of these agendas, and ways must be found to ensure they complement rather than contradict one another.

In addition to multilateral solutions, countries with greater economic power and systemic relevance will need to assess whether their unilateral actions – in trade or taxation, for example – place constraints on the implementation of internal consistency makers by others. Similarly countries adversely affected by current external consistency makers can themselves generate solutions – as shown for example by Kenya and Colombia's championing of a new Global Expert Review on Debt, Nature, and Climate (COP28 UAE Presidency, 2023).

In tackling both internal and external consistency makers, each constituency may have its preferred language and framings. Several constituencies are already proposing, and in some cases taking, actions that correspond to the spirit of Article 2.1(c), while using different terms.¹⁰ Some international investors may see stronger relevance if Article 2.1(c) is framed in terms of 'just transition' or 'climate risk management'. Similarly, some governments may be more motivated if it can be shown that Article 2.1(c)type actions support food security or structural economic transformation.

¹⁰ As noted, this paper does not advance a definitive framework and acknowledges that terms like 'consistency maker' may suit a climate constituency, while food system and financial reform consistencies have their own terms and typologies for similar concepts.

5 What next?

Actions to drive progress, within and between the fora and processes charged with addressing address climate, food and finance, are needed in three areas.

First, the climate negotiations and related country-level processes must pay closer attention to equitable implementation of Article 2.1(c) in critical sectors and systems, such as small-scale agrifood. UNFCCC deliberations on Article 2.1(c) will need to address concerns raised by developing countries, and increase their focus on those countries' priorities, if they are to make progress. This includes rebalancing to emphasise adaptation and climate-resilient development, given a focus so far on mitigation. Identifying the role of Article 2.1(c) in promoting climate-resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems contributes to this rebalancing, given how crucial these systems are for developing countries' climate and development objectives. The dialogues and related work around Article 2.1(c) will therefore need to move away from more general consideration of finance flows and towards greater sectoral detail, and consider the links between finance flows and impacts in the real economy.

At the country level, implementation of Article 2.1(c) for climate- resilient development in small-scale agrifood systems does not, as shown by the examples in this paper, need to wait for detailed guidance negotiated at the UNFCCC. Where there is demand from country stakeholders, internal consistency makers (and information on where they are constrained by external consistency makers) can be included more systematically in UNFCCC-mandated planning processes. Key strategies include NDCs, NAPs and Long-Term Strategies for Low Carbon and Climate Resilient Development (LTSs). While over a third of updated NDCs mention a role for smallholder farmers, other small-scale food system considerations rarely appear (Bakhtary, Tucker and Fleckenstein, 2022). NAPs could also be strengthened to quantify food system adaptation needs from the bottom up.

Second, **food system fora, including follow-ups to the UN Food System Summit**, can amplify the importance of Article 2.1(c), harnessing it as a legally binding international treaty agreement, to drive finance flows towards resilient, sustainable food system transformation. Similar to the emphasis on NDCs and NAPs above, national agrifood system initiatives such as implementation of food systems national pathways and SDG Voluntary National Reviews (for SDG2 and related goals) can be used to generate evidence and demand for action on consistency makers, in support of small-scale food systems.

Finally, climate and food system communities should continue to pursue greater collaboration when seeking to motivate those with the greatest influence over the financial system. This includes the more explicitly 'developmental', agenda-setting dialogues on reforming the international financial architecture, such as the 2024 Summit of the Future. It also includes many international fora in which substantive issues are deliberated and decided, including finance ministers' meetings of the G20, the OECD, the WTO and the Bank of International Settlements (Robertson et al., 2023). At the national level, coordination between line ministries responsible for climate and agrifood is vital when seeking to engage with ministries of finance and central banks. Successful coordination of the climate, food and finance agendas should be measured in the overall increase in finance flowing towards climateresilient development, across the board and for small-scale agrifood systems. This increase can come either from greater mobilisation of public or private flows, or from the shifting of finance from activities that are not aligned with the objectives of these agendas. Otherwise, there is a danger that the levels of finance flowing towards these systems will remain low, while trying to achieve an increasing number of different objectives.

References

- ADB (2021) Financing Sustainable and Resilient Food Systems in Asia and the Pacific. Asian Development Bank. Available at: https://doi.org/10.22617/SPR210428-2.
- **AfDB** (2023) *The Africa Climate Risk Insurance Facility for Adaptation (ACRIFA)*. African Development Bank Group. Available at: https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/africa-climate-risk-insurance-facility-adaptation-acrifa.
- Ahiaku, A. and Milder, B. (2022) The Effect of Central Bank Policies on Lending to Agricultural SMEs in East Africa. Aceli Africa. Available at: https://aceliafrica.ams3.digitaloceanspaces.com/wp-content/ uploads/2022/07/25233036/AceliAfrica_LearningBrief_vFINAL.pdf.
- Andaya, E. et al. (2022) Shared labels: selling stories that conserve biocultural diversity and promote resilience. London: IIED. Available at: https://www.iied.org/21111iied.
- Anderson, K. (2018) 'Benefits and Costs of the Trade Targets for the Post-2015 Development Agenda', in B. Lomborg (ed.) *Prioritizing Development*. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, pp. 192–218. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108233767.011.
- **Angel, M. and Kurniawati, D.** (2023) 'Coffee firms turning away from Africa as EU deforestation law looms', *Reuters*, 19 December. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/coffee-firms-turning-away-africa-eu-deforestation-law-looms-2023-12-19/ (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- **Arulingam, I. et al.** (2022) Small-scale producers in sustainable agrifood systems transformation. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cco821en.
- Ayanlade, A. et al. (2023) 'Complex climate change risk and emerging directions for vulnerability research in Africa', *Climate Risk Management*, 40, p. 100497. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. crm.2023.100497.
- Bakhtary, H., Tucker, A. and Fleckenstein, M. (2022) Unlocking and Scaling Climate Solutions in Food Systems: An Assessment of Nationally Determined Contributions. WWF. Available at: https://climatefocus.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/20221113_WWF_NDC_EN_final.pdf.
- **Bellmann, C.** (2019) *Subsidies and sustainable agriculture: Mapping the policy landscape*, Chatham House: London, Available at: https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/Subsidies%20 and%20Sustainable%20Ag%20-%20Mapping%20the%20Policy%20Landscape%20FINAL-compressed.pdf.
- **Bezner Kerr, R. et al.** (2022) 'Food, Fibre, and Other Ecosystem Products.', in *Climate Change 2022:* Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 1st edn. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.007.
- **BFT** (2020) *Bettter Finance, Better Food: Investing in the new food and land use economy.* Blended Finance Taskforce. Available at: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5acdco66c258b4bd2d15050b/ t/5fbf40453485235c86bb9b95/1606369377308/Better+Finance%2C+Better+Food+-+Investing+in+t he+new+food+and+land+use+economy.pdf.
- Birkmann, J. et al. (2023) 'Chapter 8: Poverty, Livelihoods and Sustainable Development', in H.-O.
 Pörtner et al. (eds) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1171–1274.
 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.

- **Bjornlund, V., Bjornlund, H. and Van Rooyen, A.F.** (2020) 'Why agricultural production in sub-Saharan Africa remains low compared to the rest of the world – a historical perspective', *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 36(sup1), pp. S20–S53. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2020.1739512.
- **Bouroncle, C. et al.** (2017) 'Mapping climate change adaptive capacity and vulnerability of smallholder agricultural livelihoods in Central America: ranking and descriptive approaches to support adaptation strategies', *Climatic Change*, 141(1), pp. 123–137. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1792-0.
- Bozzola, M., Lamonaca, E. and Santeramo, F.G. (2023) 'Impacts of climate change on global agri-food trade', *Ecological Indicators*, 154, p. 110680. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2023.110680.
- von Braun, J. et al. (2023) 'Food System Concepts and Definitions for Science and Political Action', in
 J. von Braun et al. (eds) Science and Innovations for Food Systems Transformation. Cham: Springer
 International Publishing, pp. 11–17. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15703-5_2.
- **Brunton, J.** (2023) 'COP28: Farmers COP raw deal as agriculture negotiations fail', British Agriculture Bureau, 12 August. Available at: https://www.britishagriculturebureau.co.uk/updates-and-information/ cop28-farmers-cop-raw-deal-as-agriculture-negotiations-fail/ (Accessed: 15 March 2024).
- **CABRI** (2019) The role of governments in developing agriculture value chains. Case Study 3: Public financial management implications for a value-chain approach in the agricultural sector. Policy Dialogue. Available at: https://www.cabri-sbo.org/pt/publications/the-role-of-governments-in-developing-agriculture-value-chains-1.
- **Calvo, F.** (2022) 'Why we must rethink the use of nitrogen fertilizers', International Institute for Sustainable Development. Available at: https://www.iisd.org/articles/analysis/tackling-hunger-nitrogen-fertilizers (Accessed: 10 March 2024).
- **Carter, M.R., Janzen, S.A. and Stoeffler, Q.** (2017) 'Can Insurance Help Manage Climate Risk and Food Insecurity? Evidence from the Pastoral Regions of East Africa', in L. Lipper *et al.* (eds) *Climate Smart Agriculture : Building Resilience to Climate Change.* Cham: Springer International Publishing (Natural Resource Management and Policy), pp. 201–225. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61194-5_10.
- **Casey, J. et al.** (2021) *Private finance investment opportunities in climate-smart agriculture technologies.* Available at: https://www.casaprogramme.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Private-finance-investment-opportunities-in-climate-smart-agriculture-technologies.pdf.
- **CFS** (2013) *Global Strategic Framework for Food Security & Nutrition (GSF)*. Committee on World Food Security. Available at: https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs1213/gsf/GSF_Version_2_EN.pdf.
- **Chamon, M. d et al.** (2022) *Debt-for-Climate Swaps: Analysis, Design, and Implementation*, IMF. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2022/08/11/Debt-for-Climate-Swaps-Analysis-Design-and-Implementation-522184.
- **Chhatre, A. et al.** (2023) 'Financial inclusion helps rural households address climate risk', *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), p. 7929. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-34844-y.

- **Chiriac, D., Naran, B. and Falconer, A.** (2020) *Examining the climate finance gap for small-scale agriculture*. Rome: Climate Policy Initiative and IFAD. Available at: https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/publication/climate-finance-small-scale-agriculture/.
- **Chiriac, D., Vishnumolakala, H. and Rosane, P.** (2023) *The Climate Finance Gap for Small Scale Agrifood Systems. A growing challenge*. London: Climate Policy Initiative. Available at: https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/The-Climate-Finance-Gap-for-Small-Scale-Agrifood-Systems.pdf.
- **Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action** (no date) *Helsinki Principles* | *Coalition of Finance Ministers*. Available at: https://www.financeministersforclimate.org/helsinki-principles (Accessed: 11 March 2024).
- **Cohn, A.S. et al.** (2017) 'Smallholder Agriculture and Climate Change', *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 42(Volume 42, 2017), pp. 347–375. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102016-060946.
- **COP28 UAE Presidency** (2023) Colombia, Kenya and France launch global expert review on debt, nature and climate. Available at: https://pfbc-cbfp.org/news-partner/nature-climate.html?file=files/ docs/news/12-2023/Announcement-Colombia-Kenya-and-France-commission-of-experts.pdf.
- **Cosgrove, B. et al.** (2023) Sustainable Finance for the Transformation of Food Systems. Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10568/128290 (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- **Damania, R. et al.** (2023) *Detox Development: Repurposing Environmentally Harmful Subsidies.* Washington, DC : World Bank. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1916-2.
- Davis, K. et al. (2021) 'Investing in farmers: Agriculture human capital investment strategies', Directions in Investment [Preprint], (N. 4). Available at: https://data.unhcr.org/en/documents/ details/91732.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. (2015) Macroeconomics, agriculture, and food security: A guide to policy analysis in developing countries. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://ebrary.ifpri.org/digital/collection/p15738coll2/id/129736.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. (2017) 'Public stockholding programs: what options for a permanent solution?', in Agricultural trade interests and challenges at the WTO Ministerial Conference in Buenos Aires: A Southern Cone perspective. San Jose, Costa Rica: Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA) et al.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. (2023a) 'Financing SDG2 and Ending Hunger', in J. Von Braun et al. (eds) Science and Innovations for Food Systems Transformation. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 661– 683. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15703-5_35.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. (2023b) Financing the Transformation of Food Systems: A Flow of Funds Approach. Food System Economics Commission. Available at: https://foodsystemeconomics.org/wp-content/ uploads/Diaz-Bonilla-2023.pdf.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. et al. (2023) 'The UN Food Systems Summit 2021: Lessons of the Gender and Finance Levers', in. AAEA Annual Meeting, Anaheim. Available at: https://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/ collection/p15738coll2/id/136685/filename/136896.pdf.
- Díaz-Bonilla, E. (2023c) 'TRANSFORMATION OF FOOD SYSTEMS: HOW CAN IT BE FINANCED?', Frontiers of Agricultural Science and Engineering, 10(1), pp. 109–123. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15302/J-FASE-2023483.

- Diaz-Bonilla, E. and Callaway, V. (2018) *The G20, global trade and investment regimes, and a sustainable food future*, International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://www.ifpri.org/publication/g20-global-trade-and-investment-regimes-and-sustainable-foodfuture (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- **Domke, B.** (2022) 'Towards a renaissance of agricultural development banks in sub-Saharan Africa?', *Rural21*. Available at: https://www.rural21.com/fileadmin/downloads/2022/en-04/rural2022_04-S18-19.pdf.
- **European Council** (2023) Corporate sustainability due diligence: Council and Parliament strike deal to protect environment and human rights. Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/ press-releases/2023/12/14/corporate-sustainability-due-diligence-council-and-parliament-strikedeal-to-protect-environment-and-human-rights/ (Accessed: 19 March 2024).
- **FAIRR** (2021) Aligning agricultural finance with the Paris Agreement: Implications for public and private finance. London: FAIRR Initiative. Available at: https://justruraltransition.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2021/04/FAIRR_Policy_White_Paper_Agricultural_Finance_and_Paris_Agreement.pdf.
- **Fanzo, J.** (2017) 'From big to small: the significance of smallholder farms in the global food system', *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 1(1), pp. e15–e16. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30011-6.
- **Fanzo, J. and Miachon, L.** (2023) 'Harnessing the connectivity of climate change, food systems and diets: Taking action to improve human and planetary health', *Anthropocene*, 42, p. 100381. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ancene.2023.100381.
- **FAO** (2021) *Making Agrifood Systems More Resilient to Shocks and Stresses*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Available at: https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en?details=cb4476en.
- **FAO** (2022a) 'Committee on Agriculture. Twenty-eight Session. Governance of tenure of water resources for food and agriculture', in. FAO. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cb6241en.
- **FAO** (2022b) Managing risks to build climate-smart and resilient agrifood value chains: The role of climate services. Rome, Italy: FAO. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cb8297en.
- **FAO** (2022c) *The future of food and agriculture Drivers and triggers for transformation*. Rome, Italy: FAO (The Future of Food and Agriculture, No. 3). Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0959en.
- **FAO** (2023a) Climate change impacts and adaptation options in the agrifood system: Brief summary of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change sixth Assessment Report. Rome: FAO. Available at: https://www.fao.org/3/cc5921en/cc5921en.pdf.
- **FAO** (2023b) *The relations between climate change and child labour in agriculture*. Rome, Italy: FAO. Available at: https://www.fao.org/3/cc6244en/cc6244en.pdf.
- **FAO** (2023c) The State of Food and Agriculture 2023: Revealing the True Cost of Food to Transform Agrifood Systems. FAO. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cc7724en.
- **FAO and Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre** (2019) *Managing climate risks through social protection: Reducing rural poverty and building resilient agricultural livelihoods.* Rome, Italy: FAO. Available at: https://www.fao.org/documents/card/es/c/ca6681en/.
- **Fedele, G. et al.** (2019) 'Transformative adaptation to climate change for sustainable social-ecological systems', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 101, pp. 116–125. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envsci.2019.07.001.

- **Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development** (2023) *Debt-for-climate swaps*, Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available at: https://www.bmz.de/en/ issues/climate-change-and-development/climate-financing/debt-for-climate-swaps-195550.
- **Ferdinand, T. et al.** (2021) 'A Blueprint for Digital Climate-Informed Advisory Services: Building the Resilience of 300 Million Small-Scale Producers by 2030', *World Resources Institute* [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.46830/wriwp.20.00103.
- **Finance in Common** (2021) *Finance in Common: Moving Towards Sustainable Agri-Food System: Analysis and Strategic Scenarios.* Available at: https://www.cdp.it/resources/cms/documents/FICS_ Summit-Report_19-20_October_2021.pdf.
- **FOLU** (2019) *Growing Better: Ten Critical Transitions to Transform Food and Land Use*. The Food and Land Use Coalition. Available at: https://www.foodandlandusecoalition.org/global-report/ (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- **FSEC** (2024) *The Economics of the Food System Transformation*. Food System Economics Commission (FSEC). Available at: https://foodsystemeconomics.org/wp-content/uploads/FSEC-Global_Policy_Report.pdf.
- van Gaal, C. et al. (2023) Food Systems Finance for Resilient Futures: An MDB and NDB Collaboration Roadmap. Financing in Common Summit 2023 Conference Working Paper.
- **Galeana, E.** (2023) *FIRA Places First Green Resilience Bond in Latin America*, Mexico Business. Available at: https://mexicobusiness.news/agribusiness/news/fira-places-first-green-resilience-bond-latin-america (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- **Galt, H. et al.** (2021) Shifting finance for sustainable land use: Repurposing public support to agriculture. Amsterdam: Climate Focus, ODI and SDSN. Available at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/feldactiontracker.org/green-finance/Shifting+Finance+Main+Report+Low+Res.pdf.
- **Greatrex, H. et al.** (2015) Scaling up index insurance for smallholder farmers: Recent evidence and insights. CCAFS Report No. 14. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- **Guarin, A. et al.** (2022) Taking stock of smallholder inclusion in modern value chains. London: International Institute for Environment and Development. Available at: https://www.iied.org/sites/ default/files/pdfs/2022-09/21086iied.pdf
- Hamirani, H. (2023) 'Financing the good food transformation to promote fiscal resilience, addressing food security, human and planetary health', *Good Food Finance Network*, 20 September. Available at: https://goodfood.finance/2023/09/20/publicfinanceicfm/ (Accessed: 2 February 2024).
- Hannah, L. *et al.* (2017) 'Regional modeling of climate change impacts on smallholder agriculture and ecosystems in Central America', *Climatic Change*, 141(1), pp. 29–45. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1867-y.
- Hazell, P., Jaeger, A. and Hausberger, R. (2021) Innovations and Emerging Trends In Agricultural Insurance for Smallholder Farmers – An Update. Eschborn: GIZ. Available at: https://www.giz.de/ expertise/downloads/2021%20GIZ_Innovations%20and%20emerging%20Trends%20in%20 Agricultural%20Insurance-An%20update.pdf.
- Heck, K., Blumstein, S. and Johnson, F. (2022) Promoting Water Tenure for Food Security, Climate Resilience and Equity | adelphi. Berlin. Available at: https://adelphi.de/system/files/mediathek/bilder/ WT%20Workshop%20Report_final.pdf.

- Hellin, J. et al. (2017) Scaling Up Agricultural Adaptation through Insurance: Bringing together insurance, big data and agricultural innovation, Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Available at: https://hdl. handle.net/10568/92977
- **HLPE** (2012) 'Social Protection for Food Security A Report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security'. Available at: https://www.fao.org/ fileadmin/user_upload/hlpe/hlpe_documents/HLPE_Reports/HLPE-Report-4-Social_protection_ for_food_security-June_2012.pdf.
- **HLPE** (2017) *Nutrition and food systems*. Rome: High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7846e.pdf.
- Holden, S.T. (2020) 'Policies for Improved Food Security: The Roles of Land Tenure Policies and Land Markets', in S. Gomez y Paloma, L. Riesgo, and K. Louhichi (eds) *The Role of Smallholder Farms in Food and Nutrition Security*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 153–169. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42148-9_8.
- Hopewell, K. and Margulis, M.E. (2023) 'Global trade rules threaten food security amid climate shocks', *Earth System Governance*, 18, p. 100198. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. esg.2023.100198.
- Houngbo, G.F. (2021) Opinion: Public development banks a bridge to better food systems?, Devex. Available at: https://www.devex.com/news/sponsored/opinion-public-development-banks-a-bridgeto-better-food-systems-100375 (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- IFAD (2015) Finance for Food: Investing in Agriculture for a Sustainable Future. Rome: International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). Available at: https://www.miur.gov.it/ documents/20182/472550/Ifad_EN_FinanceXFood.pdf/77f1f813-9605-4190-a196-fc3bc7781bbd.
- **IFAD** (2021a) Agricultural and climate risk insurance for smallholder value chains: Identifying common challenges and solutions. IFAD. Available at: https://www.ifad.org/en/web/knowledge/-/agricultural-and-climate-risk-insurance-for-smallholder-value-chains-identifying-common-challenges-and-solutions.
- IFAD (2021b) Rural Development Report 2021 | Transforming food systems for rural prosperity. IFAD. Rome: IFAD. Available at: https://www.ifad.org/en/rural-development-report/#:~:text=We%20 need%20to%20help%20farmers,as%20wind%20and%20solar%20energy.
- **IFAD** (2023a) One million people to build climate resilience: new IFAD-Brazil agreement, IFAD. Available at: https://www.ifad.org/nl/web/latest/-/one-million-people-to-build-climate-resilience-new-ifad-brazil-agreement?p_l_back_url=%2Fnl%2Fweb%2Flatest (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- **IFAD** (2023b) *Sharp decrease in climate finance going to small-scale farmers new report shows*, IFAD. Available at: https://www.ifad.org/en/web/latest/-/sharp-decrease-in-climate-finance-going-to-small-scale-farmers-new-report-shows (Accessed: 27 March 2024).
- **IIED** (no date) *Principles for locally led adaptation*, International Institute for Environment and Development. Available at: https://www.iied.org/principles-for-locally-led-adaptation (Accessed: 15 February 2024).
- IMF (2022) Grenada: Disaster Resilience Strategy. Country Report No. 2022/080. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund (IMF). Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/ Issues/2022/03/16/Grenada-Disaster-Resilience-Strategy-515246.

- IMF (2023) Resilience and Sustainability Facility—Operational Guidance Note. Washington, D.C: IMF. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2023/11/28/Resilience-and-Sustainability-Facility-Operational-Guidance-Note-541867.
- IPCC (2019) Climate Change and Land: IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157988.
- IPCC (2022) 'Summary for Policymakers [H.-O. Pörtner, et al. (eds.)', in: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_ WGII_SummaryForPolicymakers.pdf.
- **IPES-Food** (2023) *Breaking the Cycle of Unsustainable Food Systems, Hunger and Debt.* IPES-FOOD: International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems. Available at: https://www.ipes-food. org/_img/upload/files/DebtFoodCrisis.pdf (Accessed: 5 February 2024).
- **ISF Advisors** (2022) *The state of the agri-SME sector Bridging the finance gap.* ISF Advisors. Available at: https://isfadvisors.org/the-current-state-of-the-agri-sme-finance-sector/.
- Jennings, S. et al. (2024) 'Stakeholder-driven transformative adaptation is needed for climatesmart nutrition security in sub-Saharan Africa', *Nature Food*, 5(1), pp. 37–47. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-023-00901-y.
- Kenney, M., Visser, M.A. and Zysman, J. (2021) 'The Challenge of the Digital Agricultural Revolution: A Comparison Between Advanced Economies and Developing Countries', in *Moving Towards Sustainable Agri-Food Systems: Analysis and Strategic Scenarios. Finance in Common.* Available at: https://brie.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/brie_wp_2021_10_the_challenge_of_the_ digital_agricultural_revolution.pdf
- Kirst, R.W. et al. (2021) 'Best of the world or better for the world? A systematic literature review on benefit corporations and certified B corporations contribution to sustainable development', *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 28(6), pp. 1822–1839. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.2160.
- Kotzias, M. et al. (2023) 'Reform of the international financial architecture'. Berlin: Germanwatch Available at: https://www.germanwatch.org/sites/default/files/germanwatch_ifa_reform_2023.pdf.
- Landers, C. and Aboneaaj, R. (2023) *Debt Suspension Clauses to the Rescue?*, Center For Global Development. Available at: https://www.cgdev.org/publication/debt-suspension-clauses-to-rescue (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- Lankes, H.P. (2021) Blended-Finance-for-Scaling-Up-Climate-and-Nature-Investments-1.pdf. One Planet Lab and Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Blended-Finance-for-Scaling-Up-Climate-and-Nature-Investments-1.pdf.
- Lario (2024) Why small-scale farmers can teach us a lot about climate change, World Economic Forum. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2024/02/small-scale-farmers-climate-change/ (Accessed: 27 March 2024).

- **Lieb, T.** (2024) *5* common misunderstandings about the EU's deforestation policy, clarified, GreenBiz. Available at: https://www.greenbiz.com/article/5-common-misunderstandings-about-eusdeforestation-policy-clarified (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- Lipper, L. et al. (2017) Climate smart agriculture: building resilience to climate change. Springer Nature.
- Lipper, L. et al. (2021) 'Financing adaptation for resilient livelihoods under food system transformation: the role of Multilateral Development Banks', *Food Security*, 13(6), pp. 1525–1540. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-021-01210-7.
- Lipper L. et al. (2022) Financing climate adaptation and resilient agricultural livelihoods. Rome: IFAD. Available at: https://www.ifad.org/zh-TW/web/knowledge/-/research-series-85-financing-climateadaptation-and-resilient-agricultural-livelihoods.
- **Loboguerrero, A. et al.** (2017) 'Climate services and insurance: scaling climate-smart agriculture', *Agriculture for Development*, 30, pp. 31–34.
- Loboguerrero, A.M. et al. (2019) 'Food and Earth Systems: Priorities for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation for Agriculture and Food Systems', *Sustainability*, 11(5), p. 1372. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051372.
- Lonsdale, K., Pringle, P. and Turner (2015) *Transformational adaptation: what it is, why it matters* & what is needed. Oxford, UK: UK Climate Impacts Programme, University of Oxford. Available at: https://weadapt.org/knowledge-base/governance-institutions-and-policy/transformationaladaptation/ (Accessed: 10 March 2024).
- Malek, Ž. et al. (2019) 'Local land-use decision-making in a global context', *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(8), p. 083006. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab309e.
- Martens, J. (2023) 'Reforms to the global financial architecture. Proposals, conflicts and prospects on the way to the Summit of the Future 2024 and the Financing for Development Conference 2025'. Available at: https://www.globalpolicy.org/sites/default/files/download/Briefing_Reforms%20to%20 the%20global%20financial%20architecture.pdf.
- Mazzucato, M. (2023) Financing the Sustainable Development Goals Through Mission-oriented Development Banks. UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA) Policy Briefs UN DESA Policy Brief Special issue. New York. Available at: https://doi.org/10.18356/27081990-154.
- Meah, N. and Sharma, S. (2021) 'Climate-Resilient Agricultural Development in the Global South', in *The Palgrave Handbook of Climate Resilient Societies*. Cham.: Palgrave Macmillan. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32811-5_19-1.
- Möller, V. et al. (2023) 'Annex II: Glossary', in H.-O. Pörtner, et al. (eds.) Climate Change 2022 Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Working Group II Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009325844.
- Mustapha, S., Talbot, T. and Gascoigne, J. (2023) Innovations in Sovereign Debt: Taking Debt Pause Clauses to Scale. London: Centre for Disaster Protection. Available at: https://static1.squarespace. com/static/61542ee0a87a394f7bc17b3a/t/643506609e2df202d2974606/1681196642102/230406_Inn ovations+in+Sovereign+Debt+Taking+Pause+Clauses+to+Scale_FINAL+%281%29.pdf.
- Naidoo, C. et al. (2023) Exploring the intersection of equity and Article 2.1(c). Rabia Transitions Initiative and ODI. Available at: https://odi.cdn.ngo/media/documents/iGST_Exploring_the_ intersection_of_equity_and_Article_2.1c.pdf.

- Neufeld, L.M. et al. (2023) Advance Equitable Livelihoods. A Paper for Action Track 4. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 135–163. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15703-5_8.
- Noort, M.W.J. et al. (2022) 'Towards Sustainable Shifts to Healthy Diets and Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa with Climate-Resilient Crops in Bread-Type Products: A Food System Analysis', *Foods*, 11(2), p. 135. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11020135.
- **OECD** (2019) *OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2019-2028*. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Available at: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/agriculture-and-food/oecdfao-agricultural-outlook-2019-2028_agr_outlook-2019-en (Accessed: 8 March 2024).
- **OECD** (2023a) Agricultural Policy Monitoring and Evaluation 2023: Adapting Agriculture to Climate Change. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Available at: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/agriculture-and-food/agricultural-policy-monitoring-andevaluation-2023_b14de474-en.
- **OECD** (2023b) Climate Finance Provided and Mobilised by Developed Countries in 2013-2021: Aggregate Trends and Opportunities for Scaling Up Adaptation and Mobilised Private Finance. OECD (Climate Finance and the USD 100 Billion Goal). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/ e20d2bc7-en.
- **Ovalle-Rivera, O. et al.** (2015) 'Projected Shifts in Coffea arabica Suitability among Major Global Producing Regions Due to Climate Change', *PLOS ONE*. Edited by R.D. Loyola, 10(4), p. e0124155. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124155.
- **Owino, V. et al.** (2022) 'The impact of climate change on food systems, diet quality, nutrition, and health outcomes: A narrative review', *Frontiers in Climate*, 4. Available at: https://www.frontiersin. org/articles/10.3389/fclim.2022.941842.
- **Pastorino, S. et al.** (2023) School meals and food systems: Rethinking the consequences for climate, environment, biodiversity, and food sovereignty. Monograph. London: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. Available at: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04671492.
- **Perry, C. and Grafton, Q.** (2022) *Does irrigation 'efficiency' help with water scarcity? Without a systems perspective it can make it worse.*, Global Water Forum. Available at: https://www.globalwaterforum.org/2022/12/21/does-irrigation-efficiency-help-with-water-scarcitywithout-a-systems-perspective-it-can-make-it-worse/ (Accessed: 11 March 2024).
- **Petracco, C.K. and Pender, J.** (2009) *Evaluating the Impact of Land Tenure and Titling on Access to Credit in Uganda*. IFPRI Discussion Paper. International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://www.ifpri.org/cdmref/p15738coll2/id/22386/filename/22387.pdf.
- Petzold, J. et al. (2023) 'A global assessment of actors and their roles in climate change adaptation', Nature Climate Change, 13(11), pp. 1250–1257. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-023-01824-z.
- Pörtner, H.-O., et al. (2022) '2022: Technical Summary.', in: Pörtner, H.-O., et al. (eds), Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. Available, pp. 37–118. Available at: https://doi.org/ doi:10.1017/9781009325844.002.
- **PRI** (2023) *Reforming the multilateral financing architeceture. Why, how, and the case for now.* UNPRI. Available at: https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=18777.

- **Qadir, U. and Pillay, K.** (2021) *Green Bonds for Climate Resilience: State of play and roadmap to scale.* Rotterdam: Global Center on Adaptation. Available at: https://gca.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/ Green-Bonds-for-Climate-Resilience_State-of-Play-and-Roadmap-to-Scale.pdf.
- Raina, R.S. and Nair, T. (2023) Enabling Sustainability: Financing Agroecological Transformations, Finance in Common. Available at: https://financeincommon.org/sites/default/files/2023-09/ Version%201%20-%20Two%20pager%20Rajeswari%20S.%20Raina%20et%20Tara%20Nair.pdf.
- **Randall, T.** (2022) How can 'blended finance' help fund climate action and development goals?, Grantham Research Institute on climate change and the environment. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/explainers/how-can-blended-finance-help-fund-climateaction-and-development-goals/ (Accessed: 15 February 2024).
- **Raoul, M.K.** (2021) Land Tenure Security and Access to Finance of Agricultural Households in Cameroon. African Economic Research Consortium. Available at: https://aercafrica.org/old-website/ wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Research-paper-441.pdf.
- **Robertson, M. et al.** (2023) Putting climate-resilient development at the heart of equitable implementation of Article 2, paragraph 1(c) of the Paris Agreement: Towards scaled-up adaptation finance. London: ODI. Available at: https://odi.org/en/publications/putting-climate-resilient-development-at-the-heart-of-equitable-implementation-of-article-2-paragraph-1c-of-the-paris-agreement-could-it-scale-adaptation-finance/.
- Rosenzweig, C. et al. (2020) 'Climate change responses benefit from a global food system approach', Nature Food, 1(2), pp. 94–97. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0031-z.
- Schipper, E.L. et al. (2022) 'Chapter 18: Climate Resilient Development Pathways', in: Pörtner, H.-O., et al. (eds), Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, pp. 2655–2807.
- Shaw, R. et al. (2022) 'Asia', in: Pörtner, H.-O., et al. (eds), Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1457–1579.
- Stringer, L.C. et al. (2020) 'Adaptation and development pathways for different types of farmers', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 104, pp. 174–189. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envsci.2019.10.007.
- **TEEB** (2018) *TEEB for Agriculture & Food: Scientific and Economic Foundations*. The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity. Available at: https://teebweb.org/our-work/agrifood/reports/scientific-economic-foundations/.
- World Bank and UK DFID. (2011) *How do we Improve Public Expenditure in Agriculture*. Discussion Paper. World Bank and United Kingdom Department for International Development. Available at: https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/AGRO_Noticias/docs/AgPublicExpend11_web.pdf.
- **Thompson, W.J. et al.** (2023) 'Smallholder farmer resilience to extreme weather events in a global food value chain', *Climatic Change*, 176(11), p. 152. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-023-03586-1.

- **Trisos, C.H.** et al. (2022) 'Africa', in Pörtner, H.-O., et al. (eds), Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- **UN** (2018) United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas. Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council on 28 September 2018, A/RES/73/165. United Nations. Available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1650694.
- **UN** (2020) Action Track Discussion Starter. Action Track 4 Advance Equitable Livelihoods and Value Distribution. United Nations. Available at: https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/2020/12/unfss-at4-discussion_starter-dec2020.pdf.
- **UN** (2021) Secretary-General's Chair Summary and Statement of Action on the UN Food Systems Summit, United Nations. United Nations. Available at: https://www.un.org/en/food-systems-summit/ news/making-food-systems-work-people-planet-and-prosperity.
- **UN** (2023a) *Making food systems work for people and planet. UN Food Systems Summit +2 Report of the Secretary-General.* United Nations. Available at: https://www.unfoodsystemshub.org/docs/unfoodsystemslibraries/stocktaking-moment/un-secretary-general/unfss2-secretary-general-report.pdf?sfvrsn=560b6fa6_19.
- **UN** (2023b) *Our Common Agenda Policy Brief 6. Reforms to the International Financial Architecture.* United Nations. Available at: https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/2023-08/our-common-agendapolicy-brief-international-finance-architecture-en.pdf.
- **UN** (2010) *The right to food. Note by the Secretary-General.* United Nations. Available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3936776/files/A_76_237-EN.pdf?In=en.
- **UNCTAD** (2023) *A world of debt*. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. Available at: https://unctad.org/publication/world-of-debt (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- **UNDP** (2022) Advisory Note 03 Land Reform Engendering Land Rights and Land Management. United Nations Development Programme. Available at: https://www.undp.org/barbados/publications/ advisory-note-03-land-reform.
- **UNEP** (2023) Adaptation Gap Report 2023: Underfinanced. Underprepared. Inadequate investment and planning on climate adaptation leaves world exposed. United Nations Environment Programme. Available at: http://www.unep.org/resources/adaptation-gap-report-2023.
- **UNFCCC** (2015) 'Paris Agreeement'. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf.
- **UNFCCC** (2018) Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-third session, held in Bonn from 6 to 18 November 2017. Addendum. Part two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-third session. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/decisions?f%5B0%5D=session% 3A4102.
- **UNFCCC** (2021) UNFCCC Standing Committee on Finance Fourth (2020) Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/ resource/54307_1%20-%20UNFCCC%20BA%202020%20-%20Report%20-%20V4.pdf.
- **UNFCCC** (2023a) Glasgow–Sharm el-Sheikh work programme on the global goal on adaptation referred to in decision 7/CMA.3. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ cma5_auv_8a_gga.pdf (Accessed: 15 March 2024).

- **UNFCCC** (2023b) 'Matters relating to the Standing Committee on Finance. Draft decision -/CMA.5'. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma5_auv_10a_scf.pdf (Accessed: 29 January 2024).
- **UNFCCC** (2023c) Outcome of the first global stocktake. Decision -CMA.5 Advance unedited version. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/documents/636584.
- **UNFCCC** (2023d) Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty-seventh session, held in Sharm el-Sheikh from 6 to 20 November 2022. Addendum. Part two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-seventh session. UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/ documents/626564.
- **UNFCCC** (2023e) *Technical dialogue of the first global stocktake: Synthesis report by the co-facilitators on the technical dialogue, FCCC/SB/2023/9.* UNFCCC. Available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/sb2023_09_adv.pdf?_gl=1*3ryjzv*_ga*MTI2NTU3Mjg3NC4xNjQ3NTI5NjA2*_ga_7ZZWT14N79*MTY5NDYzOTAxNi4zNzMuMS4xNjk0NjM5NjQ2LjAuMC4w (Accessed: 29 January 2024).
- **USDA and CATIE** (2023) Assessment of agricultural resilience under climate change and its relation to food insecurity and migration in the Northern Triangle of Central America. Washington, DC, United States of America.
- Vargas Falla, A.M., Brink, E. and Boyd, E. (2024) 'Quiet resistance speaks: A global literature review of the politics of popular resistance to climate adaptation interventions', *World Development*, 177, p. 106530. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2023.106530.
- Varshney, D. et al. (2020) Pradhan Mantri Kisan Samman Nidhi (PM-KISAN) and the adoption of modern agricultural technologies in Uttar Pradesh, India. New Delhi: International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://www.ifpri.org/cdmref/p15738coll2/id/133592/filename/133804.pdf.
- Vermeulen, S. and Wollenberg, E. (2017) A rough estimate of the proportion of global emissions from agriculture due to smallholders. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. Available at: https://cgspace.cgiar.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/8f2b4a98-7712-40d2-bd94-95ab97d539fa/content.
- **Vermeulen, S.J. et al.** (2018) 'Transformation in Practice: A Review of Empirical Cases of Transformational Adaptation in Agriculture Under Climate Change', *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 2. Available at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs.2018.00065.
- Viganò, L. (2021) 'The Role of Finance and Public Development Banks in Promoting Sustainable Agriculture Around the World', in *Moving Towards Sustainable Agri-Food Systems: Analysis and Strategic Scenarios*. Finance in Common. Available at: https://financeincommon.org/sites/default/ files/2021-12/FICS_Summit-Report_19-20_October_2021.pdf.
- Vos, R., Martin, W. and Resnick, D. (2022) *The Political Economy of Reforming Agricultural Support Policies. IFPRI Discussion Paper 02163.* International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/136545/filename/136753.pdf.
- **Watson, C.** (2022) Options for embedding Article 2.1 c in the New Collective Quantified Goal on climate finance. London: ODI. Available at: https://odi.cdn.ngo/media/documents/ODI_Working_paper_Options_for_embedding_Articles_2.1c_in_NQCGs_CocAJnW.pdf.
- Whiting, K. (2023) Climate finance: What are debt-for-nature swaps and how can they help countries?, World Economic Forum. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2023/06/climate-financedebt-nature-swap/ (Accessed: 16 February 2024).

- Whitley, S. et al. (2018) Making finance consistent with climate goals: insights for operationalising Article 2.1 c of the UNFCCC Paris Agreement. London: ODI. Available at: https://odi.org/ documents/5901/12557.pdf.
- **World Bank** (2022) Colombia: Leading the Path to Sustainability in Latin America, World Bank. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2022/08/31/colombia-leading-the-path-tosustainability-in-latin-america (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- World Bank (2023a) Agriculture and Food Sector Note on Applying the World Bank Group Paris AlignmentAssessment Methods. Text/HTML. Washington, DC: World Bank Group. Available at: https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdeta il/099832004072338218/IDU037edc0990002e04db6088280d203aa274ff2 (Accessed: 14 February 2024).
- **World Bank** (2023b) *How to Protect, Build, and Use Human Capital to Address Climate Change.* Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1596/40740.
- World Bank, FOLU, and IFPRI (2021) Food Finance Architecture: Financing a Healthy, Equitable and Sustainable Food System. World Bank, Food and Land Use Coalition and International Food Policy Research Institute. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/agriculture/publication/foodfinance-architecture-financing-a-healthy-equitable-and-sustainable-food-system.
- WTO (2023) Trade negotiations have key role in addressing food security, climate change: DDG Paugam. Available at: https://www.wto.org/english/news_e/news23_e/ddgjp_04dec23_e.htm (Accessed: 16 February 2024).
- Zamarioli, L.H. et al. (2021) 'The climate consistency goal and the transformation of global finance', Nature Climate Change, 11(7), pp. 578–583. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01083-w.
- **ZEF & FAO** (2020) Investment costs and policy action opportunities for reaching a world without hunger (SDG2). Joint Report. FAO and ZEF. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4060/cb1497en.
- Zegarra Aguilar, G. (2021) *Case brief: MIDAGRI*. Geneva: Internaitonal Labour Organization. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_767711.pdf.
- **Zerk, J.** (2024) The EU's Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive is flawed. But it is an opportunity too | Chatham House – International Affairs Think Tank. Available at: https://www.chathamhouse.org/2024/03/eus-corporate-sustainability-due-diligence-directiveflawed-it-opportunity-too (Accessed: 27 March 2024).

Appendix 1 Categorising investments for climate-resilient development in smallscale agrifood systems

The six categories of investment introduced in Section 3.1 draw on several recent typologies (Chiriac, Naran and Falconer, 2020; Rosenzweig et al., 2020; Owino et al., 2022; Fanzo and Miachon, 2023). The categorisation is intended to facilitate discussion of the different investments that are needed for climate-resilient development in smallscale agrifood systems, but is not definitive and there is substantial overlap and interplay between categories. Investments in each category rarely work in isolation. For example, managing climate risks for small-scale agrifood system actors could require not only 'core' risk management investments, such as developing adaptation and risk management plans and strengthening climate services and access to insurance, but also extension programmes to enhance human capital and stronger governance to improve access to financial services and social protection (FAO and Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre, 2019; FAO, 2021; Ferdinand et al., 2021).

More specific investment types within each category include, but are not limited to, the following:

Governance

Well-functioning agrifood systems depend on financial and natural resources and, in turn, their effective governance.

In terms of financial governance, the task of ensuring finance flows towards climate-resilient development objectives – whether through fiscal policy, financial regulation, public financial institutions or information campaigns – is rarely cost-neutral. For example, fiscal policy reforms to influence the agrifood value chain rest on public financial management (PFM) capacity (World Bank, 2011; CABRI, 2019) PFM capacity and frameworks can be 'greened' to address the multiple and potentially competing objectives implied by climate-resilient development, but this will require investment in capacity and data systems across and beyond the budget cycle (Gonguet *et al.*, 2021).

Social protection programmes, including both essential services and social transfers, similarly require significant investment in their governance.¹¹ Such programmes represent a key risk management tool for small-scale agrifood system actors, particularly in the context of climate change. Governance costs include integrating social protection programmes alongside other services and institutionalising them at different levels of the public sector to ensure sustainability (HLPE, 2012). Investments may also be needed to ensure social protection systems themselves integrate climate change adaptation in their design, to ensure they continue to support the climate resilience of vulnerable populations (TEEB, 2018).

¹¹ Social protection is a facet of fiscal policy to the extent that it often represents a significant expenditure item, depends on tax revenue and can support the broader social contract underpinning public finances.

In terms of natural resource governance, land tenure and land use regimes are important factors affecting the sustainability and equitability of food systems (TEEB, 2018). The IPCC has highlighted land tenure security as key to strengthening the land system transition for climate-resilient development (Schipper et al., 2022). Access to land and security of tenure, underpinned by strong governance and property rights systems, are essential for the ability of smallholders to achieve a decent standard of living (UN, 2010). They increase investment and productivity and improve resource management (UNDP, 2022), and in some cases improve access to certain types of credit (Petracco and Pender, 2009; Raoul, 2021). Similarly, water tenure has an impact on investments, poverty, food insecurity and environmental degradation (FAO, 2022a), and is of particular importance in a context of increased water demand and changing water availability (Heck, Blumstein and Johnson, 2022). While tenure reform can be undertaken at lower cost (Holden, 2020), its complexity and potential for inequitable outcomes require ongoing investments in governance, not least to administer a tenure system once it is reformed.

Human capital

Investments in human capital in the agrifood system have been shown to have strong returns, in terms of agricultural productivity and poverty reduction and other less easily measurable benefits, including resilience, innovation, quality of life, empowerment and gender awareness (Davis *et al.*, 2021). In general, investments in human capital in small-scale agrifood systems will have greater impact where a gender transformative approach is adopted (Schipper et al., 2022). Such an approach can contribute to climate-resilient development by enabling women to transition from non-paid and unrecognised work within agrifood systems to paid and higher-value jobs, and amplify their agency and decision-making in household and community settings.

A first set of core human capital investments comprises agricultural research and extension. These can be delivered using formal or informal methods, including through the agricultural education systems, extension programmes, certifications and on-the-job training. Investments in the broader education system also underpin human capital, from primary schooling upwards, providing a foundation of knowledge and skills that small-scale agrifood actors will require in order to adapt to a changing climate - whether directly in agrifood employment or in pursuing diversification opportunities where existing agrifood activities become unviable over broad areas. Scientific climate education can build climate literacy, but there is also evidence that building on indigenous knowledge can support climate resilience, for example in maintaining agrobiodiversity (Bezner Kerr et al., 2022). There is an overlap with governance investments - for example, to tackle the norms and structures that perpetuate child labour in agriculture, and keep children out of school. Child labour may appear increasingly expedient to families in small-scale farming following certain climate shocks (FAO, 2023b).

Digital tools can enable education and extension services to reach more people, at lower cost, though care should be taken to overcome inequalities in access to digital tools and connectivity (Davis *et al.*, 2021). Irrespective of the delivery channel, content can be strengthened to include climate resilience considerations, including risk management approaches.

Additionally, human capital requires investments in health, including not only capacity and infrastructure for healthcare but also adjacent areas such as nutrition and supporting services like water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH). All of these can be made more resilient to climate change, potentially at greater near-term cost but with longer-term savings (World Bank, 2023b).

Climate services and risk management

As a response to climate change, investments in climate services can address climate risks in agrifood, particularly on the supply side (FAO, 2022b). These services can address constraints to adaptation linked to limited climate-related information and data, and therefore improve decision-making (FAO, 2023a). Climate services have been limited for small-scale stakeholders across value chains globally (FAO, 2022b). The introduction of digital climate services could offer an opportunity to reach small-scale actors and build their resilience, when bundled with other services such as financing and insurance (Ferdinand *et al.*, 2021).

There remains a need to ensure financial as well as digital inclusion (for example, access to a bank account, which may or may not be digitally enabled), which can entail additional investment costs in their own right. Where small-scale actors can access financial services, weather-related insurance could also contribute to adaptation and climate-resilient development goals. There is evidence that index-based insurance, for example, improves livelihoods, reduces losses of productive assets and enhances recovery (Loboguerrero et al., 2017). Most agricultural insurance programmes are partially subsidised in low- and middle-income countries and their coverage is often limited, especially for poorer households (Greatrex et al., 2015; Carter, Janzen and Stoeffler, 2017; Hazell, Jaeger and Hausberger, 2021). The establishment of adequate legal and regulatory environments to direct insurers towards small-scale customers;

the provision of well-designed subsidies; and the promotion of innovation, amongst other public interventions, could increase the uptake and positive impacts of insurance. However, for greatest effect insurance will often need to be integrated into broader risk management programmes and coupled with access to credit, savings and technology (Greatrex *et al.*, 2015; Hellin *et al.*, 2017).

Farm management

Smallholder producers are the bedrock of many food systems and investments to support climateresilient development at this level have received considerable research and policy attention, including under approaches such as climate-smart agriculture (Lipper et al., 2017).

At the production level, these include investments in crop and livestock diversification, soil management, nutrient and pest control management and water access and management (HLPE, 2017; Chiriac, Naran and Falconer, 2020). They can also include the safeguarding of agricultural heritage and traditional food systems, and the protection of wild foods and local agrobiodiversity (HLPE, 2017).

Investments in this category include inputs, grey and green infrastructure and technology, but will also include meeting the costs of shifting farm and livestock management approaches, such as adjusting planting dates, irrigation scheduling, fertiliser and pest management, crop diversification and agroforestry (thus overlapping with human capital investments) (Rosenzweig et al., 2020).

Supply chain actions

Further along the supply side of the food value chain, the infrastructure and capacity for food storage, distribution systems, processing, packaging, retail and markets are all potentially threatened by climate change (Owino et al., 2022). In many contexts it is not just existing infrastructure that needs to be made more resilient: there is also an infrastructure deficit that must be filled to support climate-resilient development - including lack of roads, warehousing and preservation, processing and marketing capacity, especially for nutrient-dense perishable foods like fresh fruits and vegetables. Such inadequacies increase in a hotter and more flood-prone world. Beyond infrastructure, there may be a need to enhance availability of and access to information such as market pricing, and strengthen institutions and organisations that can address the power asymmetries excluding smallscale food system actors - particularly women - from equal participation in food supply chains (HLPE, 2017; Fanzo and Miachon, 2023).

Investments on the supply side can also support climate resilience for poor food consumers, not least by mitigating the impact of climate shocks on food prices, but also by safeguarding nutrition. For storage and distribution, investments in the reduction of food losses and waste and the preservation of food safety are key. During processing and packaging, investments in policies, practices and technologies that protect or add nutritional value are also necessary (HLPE, 2017; Fanzo and Miachon, 2023).

Demand-side actions

On the demand side, investments that improve availability, physical access and affordability of sustainably produced, healthy food are required, accompanied by promotion of healthier and more sustainable diets (HLPE, 2017). Many of these require adjustment to the 'food environment', i.e. the physical, economic and sociocultural surroundings in which food is acquired, prepared and eaten. Investments to 'nudge' consumers are relevant, though greater attention has been paid to such tools in higher-income contexts, and for health more than for environmental or climate benefits (Fanzo and Miachon, 2023). For poor consumers, the household and other local infrastructure and services to store and prepare nutritious food in a changing climate are also relevant, including cooking and refrigeration.

Investments on the demand side frequently link to those on the supply side. One area where these supply-demand links are being explored in the context of climate change is school meals, which are currently provided to around half a billion children a day, including in many lowerincome countries. Opportunities exist to enhance nutritious diets for children while driving loweremission and more resilient production and preparation of food through public procurement choices (Pastorino et al., 2023).